

Wayne State University

Wayne State University Dissertations

1-1-2016

The Impact Of Age On Workplace Motivation: A Person-Centered Perspective

Keith Lynn Zabel *Wayne State University,*

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/oa_dissertations Part of the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons, Organizational Behavior and Theory <u>Commons</u>, and the <u>Psychology Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Zabel, Keith Lynn, "The Impact Of Age On Workplace Motivation: A Person-Centered Perspective" (2016). *Wayne State University Dissertations*. Paper 1499.

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@WayneState. It has been accepted for inclusion in Wayne State University Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@WayneState.



THE IMPACT OF AGE ON WORKPLACE MOTIVATION: A PERSON-CENTERED PERSPECTIVE

by

KEITH ZABEL

DISSERTATION

Submitted to the Graduate School

of Wayne State University,

Detroit, Michigan

in partial fulfillment of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

2016

MAJOR: PSYCHOLOGY (Industrial/Organizational)

Approved by:

Advisor

Date



DEDICATION

I dedicate this to my wife Lauren, who has and will continue to motivate me across the lifespan. Her love, encouragement and support motivated me to prioritize completing the dissertation. I also dedicate the dissertation to my twin brother Kevin, who is constantly a great inspiration and role model. I also dedicate this to my sister Nicole, whose love and support is constant, and to my parents, whose hard work, love and sacrifice has given me this opportunity. In addition, my grandparents RuthAnn, Chuck, and Donna have been a great source of encouragement and love throughout this process and my life. I also dedicate this to Bev, Nate, and Elise. I'm proud to hopefully become the third doctor in the family (although don't look to me to save anyone's life).



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I have been fortunate to have the encouragement and guidance of great academic advisors and friends. At an early age, my parents instilled a love of learning that persists to this day. I was fortunate to attend Albion College and work with Drew Christopher, who taught me how to form research questions, write manuscripts, and conduct statistical analyses. At Wayne State, I have received great instruction and guidance from all faculty, most notably Boris Baltes, who has always been there to support me and give me opportunities to write in different journals and outlets. I also want to thank the others members of my committee, Marcus Dickson, Lisa Marchiondo, and Larry Williams, for their support in completing this project. On the industry side, thank you to Madhura Chakrabarti at Dell and Lori LePla at General Motors, who taught me how to use my I/O psychologist training to drive decision-making and generate insights. Thank you to Patricia Small and the GDI&A/Workforce Planning teams at Ford for the daily ability to apply what I've learned at Wayne State to solve organizational problems through analytics. Last but not least, I want to thank my great cohort. Ben, Becky and Asiyat - I'm so glad we were accepted into the program the same year and established such strong friendships. Thank you for support!



Dedication	ii
Acknowledgments	iii
List of Tables	vi
List of Figures	vii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 2: Literature Review	4
Workplace Motivation	4
Conceptualizations of Age	5
Age and Workplace Motivation	
Hypothesis Development	
Chapter 3: Methods	
Participants	
Materials	
Chapter 4: Results	40
Analyses	40
Chapter 5: Discussion	63
Practical Implications and Future Research	66
Limitations	68
Final Conclusions	70
Appendix A:	91
Appendix B:	92
Appendix C:	

TABLE OF CONTENTS



Appendix D:	94
Appendix E:	95
Appendix F	96
Appendix G	97
Appendix H:	
Appendix I:	
Appendix J:	100
Appendix K:	
Appendix L:	
Appendix M:	103
Appendix N	104
Appendix O:	105
Appendix P	106
Appendix Q:	107
Appendix R:	108
Appendix S:	109
References	110
Abstract	126
Autobiographical Statement	127



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Descriptions of Hypothesized Age Conceptualization Clusters	72
Table 2: Hypothesized Relationships of Clusters to Growth, Social, and Security Motives	73
Table 3: Chronological Age Distribution of the U.S. Workforce	74
Table 4: Chronological Age Distribution of the Study Sample	75
Table 5: Means and Standard Deviations of Study Variables	76
Table 6: Correlations Between Study Variables	77
Table 7: Agglomeration Schedule for Hierarchical Cluster Analysis	80
Table 8: ANOVA Results Indicating Differences Between Clusters on Age Conceptualizations	81
Table 9: Summary of ANOVA Results Indicating Differences Between Clusters on Age Conceptualizations.	82
Table 10: Communalities	83
Table 11: Factor Loadings of Principal Components Analysis with Oblique Rotation	84
Table 12: Kooij et al. (2011) Age-Workplace Motives Conceptualizations of Motives	85
Table 13: ANOVA Results Indicating Differences Between Clusters on Workplace Motives	86
Table 14: Summary of ANOVA Results Indicating Differences Between Clusters on Workplace Motives.	87
Table 15: Ad-Hoc ANOVA Results	88
Table 16: Summary of Ad-Hoc ANOVA Results	89



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1:	Dendrogram	of Age	Conceptualization	Clusters	90
0	0	0	1		



CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

The U.S. workforce has been aging since the turn of the 20th century (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2010), driven by a variety of factors, including declining fertility rates, an increase in life expectancy, and the aging of the large Baby Boomer generation (e.g., Cennamo & Gardner, 2008). The aging of the workforce places pressure on retirement systems, causing many countries to continually increase their state-funded retirement eligibility age (e.g., China; Wong, 2015). The ripple effect of increasing retirement ages and life expectancies are that individuals are expected and continue to delay retirement and stay in the workforce at later ages. Given the number of older workers in the U.S. will only continue to rise until at least 2050 (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2010), it is vitally important that organizations understand how to motivate workers across the lifespan, with an ever-increasing emphasis on older workers.

Organizations small and large understand the importance of motivating workers across the lifespan, and workplace motivation is a key component of many talent management systems including succession planning (e.g., Crumpacker & Crumpacker, 2007), career development programs (e.g., Dik, Sargent, & Steger, 2008), flexible work arrangements (e.g., Thompson & Prottas, 2006), and employee engagement (e.g., Meyer & Gagne, 2008). As one example, the process of succession planning typically creates a plan for filling high-level positions in the future, using previous job performance, age, years of service, experience, and promotion needs as typical proxy variables to create the plan. Career development initiatives within organizations typically focus on developing employees with low chronological ages and low organizational/job tenure (e.g., Pitt-Catsouphes et al., 2009), capitalizing on the growth needs that are presumed to be higher in younger workers relative to older workers. On the other hand, flexible work schedules such as telecommuting or flextime show the most benefit for workers with young



children (e.g., Allen & Finkelstein, 2014; Baltes et al., 1999). Recent research suggests that older workers may also benefit from using flexible work arrangements (Pitt-Catsouphes et al., 2009), given flexible work solutions capitalize upon autonomy needs to motivate employees. Even though these types of talent management initiatives utilize definitions of age to form their strategy, nearly all investigations of the relationship between age and work motives have conceptualized age using chronological age (see Kooij et al., 2008; Kooij et al., 2011 for reviews). In addition, nearly all studies have examined the relationship between age and workplace motives using the variable-centered approach as opposed to person-centered approach. Previous research has examined the correlation between age and workplace motives, ignoring the extent to which different conceptualization age interact to create age profiles. In this context, an age profile refers to a group of individuals who are similar to each other on many of the different types of conceptualizations of age (e.g., chronological age, job tenure), but tend to have different levels of conceptualizations of age (e.g., chronological age, job tenure) relative to individuals that belong to other age profiles. Indeed, it is very likely that different age profiles exist which cause individuals to be motivated at work for different reasons.

It is vital to understand the relationship between age profiles and motivation in order for organizations to fully leverage their talent management strategies that depend upon age as major factors. In addition, major meta-analyses have lamented at the over-reliance on chronological age and correlational designs in previous studies of the relationship between age and workplace motives (Kooij et al., 2011), limitations this dissertation aims to address. In sum, this dissertation aims to bridge a gap in the literature by assessing each of the conceptualizations of age described by Kooij et al., 2008, identifying age profiles or clusters in the sample, and linking age profiles to motivation.



In the next section, I begin with a general overview of workplace motivation, focusing on three major types of workplace motives including growth, social, and security motives. Next, I introduce four conceptualizations of age other than chronological age and describe how each conceptualization has typically been measured and the overlap between the different conceptualizations. Subsequently, I explain the overlap between age and workplace motives and two theories (socioemotional selectivity theory; SEST, selection, optimization, and compensation; SOC) that be used to explain the overlap. To conclude the literature review, I discuss the person-centered approach utilized to test the hypotheses.



CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

Workplace Motivation

Workplace motives have been studied in the organizational psychology literature since the formation of the field. Generally, motivation has been defined as the forces that initiate, direct, and persist human behavior (Locke, 1991). In an oft-cited article that provides a foundation to understand the connection points of different motivation theories, Locke (1991) provided a framework that posited that the major motivational theories fall into one of seven areas, including needs (e.g., Maslow, 1943), values and motives (e.g., McClelland, 1961), goal setting (e.g., Locke & Latham, 1990), self-efficacy (e.g., Bandura, 1986), performance (e.g., Weiner, 1986), rewards (e.g., Adams, 1965), and satisfaction (e.g., Herzberg, 1966). According to Locke (1991), values represent the "motivation core" (p. 297). Indeed, Locke (1991) argues that what an individual values guides their choices and actions by influencing what is rewarding to them. For example, an employee who does not value moving up in an organization will likely not value a promotion or international service assignment relative to an individual who has the strong desire to grow in their career. Given the importance of values in the motivation sequence, we define motivation using McClelland's needs (e.g., need for achievement, 1961) as well as other values (e.g., promotion) included in Kooij et al.'s (2008, 2011) meta-analyses on the relationship between age and work motives.

Recent research examining the relationship between age and work motives (Kooij et al., 2011; Rudolph et al., 2013) have identified three classes of motives, including growth, social, and security. Growth motives refer to motives that are related to individual-level higher level of functioning (Kooij et al., 2011). Common growth motives include development/challenge motives and growth need strength (Kooij et al., 2011). In addition to growth motives, individuals



are motivated in the workplace through the social interactions and collaborations they have with coworkers. Common social motives include need for affiliation and helping people/contributing to society (Kooij et al., 2011). Security motives are the extent to which individuals desire work conditions that satisfy their overall welfare in the workplace (Kooij et al., 2011). Common security motives include job security, compensation/benefit needs, need for achievement, and need for autonomy (Kooij et al., 2011). In addition to being the typical classes of workplace motives studied with age, organizations leverage these motives as part of their talent management strategies. For example, career development initiatives utilize growth motives, team building interventions and employee resource groups fulfill social motives, and flexible work arrangements fulfill security motives. Nearly all studies that have examined the relationship between these types of motives and age have conceptualized age as one's age in calendar years (chronological age), ignoring the fact that several other conceptualizations of age exist.

Conceptualizations of Age

Even though chronological age is the most often used conceptualization of age, at least four different conceptualizations of age exist (Kooij et al., 2008), including subjective or psychosocial age (referred to as subjective age throughout this dissertation), functional or performance-based age (referred to as functional age or health throughout this dissertation), organizational age, and the life-span concept of age (Kooij et al., 2011). Functional age refers to changes in performance that occur as individuals' age, both biologically and psychologically. Subjective age, first studied in the 1950s (e.g., Blau, 1956; Tuckman & Lavell, 1957), refers to the age one feels, looks, acts, and the age that generally reflects their interests. Organizational age typically is measured by job tenure, organizational tenure, or career stage, and reflects one's



5

age in terms of their job or organization. The life-span concept of age borrows from the above definitions of age, and is often measured by life status, family status, or number of dependents.

Research indicates that although there are strong correlations between some of the different conceptualizations of age, other conceptualizations of age can add unique variance over and above chronological age in predicting workplace attitudes. For example, Cleveland and Shore (1992) found that perceived relative age (as measured a proxy for organizational age) added unique variance, over and above chronological age in predicting perceived organizational support. However, this variable did not account for variance over and above chronological age in predicting organizational commitment or performance (Cleveland & Shore, 1992).

Previous research also suggests there is utility in treating the different age conceptualizations as interactive as opposed to additive in the prediction of workplace attitudes. For example, Cleveland and Shore (1992) found that interactions of age conceptualizations accounted for unique variance over and above that of the main effects of age in the prediction of four workplace attitudes, including organizational commitment, job involvement, perceived organizational support, and job satisfaction. Interpreting the interactions, results suggested employees who rated themselves as older in subjective age and older in relative age to coworkers had the highest levels of positive workplace attitudes (e.g., organizational commitment), whereas those who rated themselves as younger in subjective age but older in relative age to coworkers had the lowest levels of positive workplace attitudes. In the next sections, I describe each conceptualization of age in greater detail.

Subjective Age. Numerous definitions and conceptualizations of subjective age have existed. Although there are differences in the methodology of self-report scales to measure subjective age, there is a general agreement that four components of subjective age exist,



6

including the age one feels, looks, acts, and whose general interests their age reflects (Barak, 1987; Goldsmith & Heiens, 1992; Stephan, Caudroit, & Chalabaev, 2011). This conceptualization of subjective age has also been referred to as cognitive age in previous studies (e.g., Kaliterna et al., 2002).

Most research has found that across the lifespan, individuals tend to report a younger subjective age than their chronological age (e.g., Borzumato-Gainey et al., 2009; Mock & Eibach, 2011), a phenomenon referred to in the literature as subjective age bias (Teuscher, 2009). While some studies have found the discrepancy between chronological age and subjective age increases as individuals age chronologically (e.g., Borzumato-Gainey et al., 2009; Galambos, Turner, & Tilton-Weaver, 2005), others have found that discrepancy stops increasing around age 40, at which point individuals continue to feel about 20% younger than their chronological age across the lifespan (e.g., Rubin & Bernsten, 2006). Rubin and Bernsten (2006) also found that age 25 was the age at which individuals went from feeling older than their chronological age to feeling younger than their chronological age. Younger subjective age has been associated with a number of positive effects, including increased life satisfaction (e.g., Borzumato-Gainey et al., 2009; Mock & Eibach, 2011; Stephan, Caudroit, & Chalabaev, 2011), self-esteem (e.g., Borzumato-Gainey et al., 2009), job satisfaction (e.g., Rioux & Mokouncolo, 2013), memory self-efficacy (e.g., Stephan, Caudroit, & Chalabaev, 2011), and decreased negative affect (e.g., Mock & Eibach, 2011).

Generally, there are three major ways in which subjective age has been measured. One research stream has measured subjective age using the Subjective Aging Questionnaire (SAQ; Barak, 1987). The SAQ consists of four questions that ask participants the age they feel, look, the age which reflects their interests, and the age which reflects their activities, using a response



range including 20s, 30s, 40s, 50s, 60s, 70s, and 80s (Barak, 1987). The average (using the midpoint of each response option) of the four responses forms an individual's subjective age. The SAQ has been administered in the same format in a number of studies (e.g., Barak, 1987; Borzumato-Gainey, Kennedy, McCabe, & Degges-White, 2009; Degges-White & Myers, 2006; Goldsmith & Heiens, 1992; Henderson, Goldsmith, & Flynn, 1995). Although advantageous because of its ease and widespread use, the SAQ suffers from a lack of precision since using the average of the midpoints circled by participants brings in unnecessary error into the calculation of subjective age.

A second major research stream has defined subjective age as the age in years individuals self-report feeling, looking, reflecting their interests, and reflecting their activities (e.g., Barrett, 2003). In many studies that use this approach, chronological age is subtracted from subjective age to form one's subjective age score (also referred to as age identity, Barrett, 2003; Mock & Eibach, 2011; Stephan, Demulier, & Terracciano, 2012), with negative scores indicating more youthful subjective age. A major advantage of this methodology is that it introduces no error into the calculation of subjective age, as the aforementioned method does. A second advantage of this approach is much of the research on subjective age (that was outlined in the following pages) uses the aforementioned difference score to show how youthful subjective age has been correlated to a number of positive outcomes (e.g., longer life, better health outcomes).

A third and final research stream has utilized a 1 (*a lot younger than my age*) to 7 (*a lot older than my age*) response range to have participants answer the extent to which they felt, look, had interests, and had activities that were older than their chronological age (e.g., Galambos, Turner, & Tilton-Weaver, 2005; Montepare, Rierdan, Koff, & Stubs, 1989). The average of the four items reflects one's subjective age. One advantage to this approach is that because it asks



8

individuals to rate how they feel, look, activities, and interests *relative* to chronological age, the scale items control for chronological age, making any subtractions of chronological age from subjective age unnecessary (Hubley & Russell, 2009). This same methodology has been used in a number of other studies (e.g., Hubley & Russell, 2009; Montepare, 1991; Steitz & McClary, 1988; Teuscher, 2009).

Given its widespread use, this dissertation utilized Approach 3 to measure subjective age. Specifically, I created a composite subjective age score for participants based upon their responses to the four Likert scale items. Approach 1 was not used because of the amount of error it introduces into the calculation of subjective age. Approach 2 was also utilized in this dissertation for two reasons, 1) to screen for outliers and 2) conduct ad hoc analyses to determine how results change using Approach 2 compared to Approach 3. Specifically, individuals self-reported their chronological age and subjective age, and the difference score (subjective age – chronological age) was used to calculate one's subjective age score (also called age identity and subjective age discrepancy score; Kaliterna et al., 2002).

Functional Age. Functional age refers to the changes in an individual's performance with age that is associated with psychological and biological changes (Kooij et al., 2008). According to Kooij et al, 2008, functional age is best-measured using changes in cognitive ability, physical ability and health. Much research has examined the impact of functional age on a variety of outcomes. For example, a review article on functional age (Anstey, Lord, & Smith, 1996) described how indicators of strength and visual acuity have been related to increased number of hours driving (Retchin, Cox, Fox, & Irwin, 1988) and decreased number of falls (Lord, Clark, & Webster, 1991) in older populations. In addition, research has found that excellent health is positively related to motivation and self-determined extrinsic motivation



(Vallerand, O'Connor, & Hamel, 1995). In addition, better health status has been related to decreased likelihood to retire (e.g., Anderson & Burkhauser, 1985; Lund & Borg, 1999). Another study found poor general health and a married marital status led to increased retirement rates (Hayward et al., 1989). These studies suggest that poor health can be an important factor in individual's decision to leave the workforce.

Functional age has often been examined in conjunction with subjective age, with results suggesting that younger subjective age is consistently associated with better health outcomes (e.g., Infurna et al., 2010; Stephan, Caudroit, & Chalabaev, 2011). While Hubley and Russell (2009) found that subjective age was negatively related to all types of health variables studied, the strongest negative relationship was between subjective age and general health, vitality, health satisfaction, and physical function (all *rs* stronger than r = -.45). Hubley and Russell (2009) also found that desired age was unrelated to health outcomes, but that small positive relationships existed between age satisfaction and the nine health outcomes (mean r = .31).

In addition to Hubley and Russell's (2009) work, Stephan et al. (2012) examined how chronological age and health outcomes interact to predict subjective age. Results suggested that higher self-rated health was related to a younger subjective age among middle-aged adults and older adults, whereas no significant relationship was found for younger individuals. These findings suggest the importance of one's health perceptions play a greater role in predicting feeling youthful as individuals' age. In a similar study that examined how conceptualizations of age can interact, Stephan et al. (2011) found younger subjective age predicted life satisfaction as well as health status and memory self-efficacy, which is considered a proxy for measuring functional age. Their mediation model suggested health status mediated the relationship between subjective age and life satisfaction. In this dissertation, functional age was measured using one's



self-reported health status. Although it is clear that other types of functional age change as chronological age increases (e.g., cognitive ability; Avolio & Waldman, 1990), health status was measured to conceptualize functional age, given its well-supported link to chronological age and subjective age.

Organizational Age. According to Kooij et al. (2008), the organizational conceptualization of age can be measured using a variety of variables, including job tenure, organizational tenure, career stage, and skill obsolescence. A wide body of literature has examined the effect of job tenure, organizational tenure, and career stage on a variety of workplace attitudes and outcomes. For example, Cohen's (1991) meta-analysis found that the negative relationship between organizational commitment and employee turnover was stronger in the early career stage relative to other career stages, and that the correlations between organizational commitment and absenteeism were stronger in the later career stage relative to other career stage has also been associated with increased work ethic (e.g., Morrow & McElroy, 1987; Pogson, Cober, Doverspike, & Rogers, 2003) and job involvement (e.g., Morrow & McElroy, 1987; Ornstein et al., 1989). Thus, a plethora of research suggests that increased organizational age is associated with increased organizational commitment, security needs, and decreased turnover intentions.

Only a few known studies have examined the relationship between organizational age and workplace motives. Specifically, Adler and Aranya (1984) found that security needs increased as individuals progressed through the career stages, but that social, esteem, and autonomy needs increased from the establishment through maintenance stages, but decreased in the pre-retirement stage. Several studies have found a positive correlation between organizational tenure and intrinsic motivation (e.g., Cook & Wall, 1980; Kuvaas, 2006). Ornstein et al. (1989)



found significantly lower promotion needs at the maintenance and pre-retirement career stages relative to the trial and establishment phases.

Even though organizational age has been shown to impact important workplace attitudes and outcomes, there has been much disagreement in the literature about how to measure it – most notably around how to define the different career stages. Indeed, the difficulties associated with measuring the organizational component of age have been the focus of several articles (e.g., Cohen, 1991; Cooke, 1994; Sullivan, 1999). One popular career stage model is that of Super and colleagues (e.g., Super, 1957, Super, Thompson, & Lindeman, 1988), who describe four career stages, including exploration, establishment, maintenance, and disengagement. The exploration stage is marked by the clarification of career interests and choices on career direction. The establishment stage is characterized by the consolidation of career decisions. One continuing to stay in their career and holding onto what they have established marks the maintenance stage. The disengagement stage is characterized by a decline in energy and decreased career interest as one moved towards retirement (Super et al., 1988).

Many studies have utilized Super et al.'s (1988) framework and nomenclature, and used chronological age as a proxy variable to determine career stage. One popular categorization includes the exploration stage including those below 30 years of age, the establishment stage including those between the ages of 30 and 45 years, the maintenance stage including those 46-60 years, and the disengagement stage including those over 60 years of age (e.g., Hafer, 1986; Hall, 1976; Super & Hall, 1978). Many other studies have used the same number of career stages, but have slightly different ages associated with the career stage. For example, one conceptualization includes the trial stage including those under 30 years, establishment stage including those aged 31-35 years, the advancement stage including those aged 36-40 years, and



the maintenance stage including those 40 years and older (e.g., Cohen, 1993; Gould, 1979; Hall & Mansfield, 1975; Rush, Peacock, & Milkovich, 1980).

A second popular method of determining career stage is using job tenure (Allen & Meyer, 1993), organizational tenure (e.g., Conway, 2004), or professional tenure (e.g., McElroy et al., 1993) as a proxy variable. Job tenure typically refers to the length of time one has been in their current role or job, whereas organizational tenure typically reflects the length of time one has been employed with their current organization (Pogson et al., 2003). The most common conceptualization has three career stages, including the establishment stage (0-2 years tenure), advancement stage (2-10 years tenure), and the maintenance stage (10 or more years of tenure; e.g., Allen & Meyer, 1993; Conway, 2004; Koh, Lee, Yen, & Havelka, 2004; Lynn, Cao, & Horn, 1996; McElroy et al., 1993, Mount, 1984; Stumpf & Rabinowitz, 1981). Several other slight variations in career stage conceptualizations using tenure can be found in the literature (e.g., Burke & Mikkelson, 2005; Cohen, 1993; Gregersen, 1993; Jans, 1989; Mehta, Anderson, & Dubinsky, 2000; Naidu & Patrick, 2011).

While the most popular methods of determining career stage assume that career stage moves in linear fashion as one ages chronologically or in tenure, a third method of determining career stage allows for individuals to "recycle" to earlier career stages, and is assessed using a survey called the Adult Career Concerns Inventory (ACCI; Super et al., 1988). This 60-item survey includes 15 questions for four career stages, including exploration (e.g., "Finding the line of work I am best suited for"), establishment (e.g., "Achieving stability in my work"), maintenance (e.g., "Developing new skills to cope with changes in my field"), and disengagement (e.g., "Having a good life in retirement"). An individual's career stage is determined using the highest mean score for the four career stages. The main benefit of using the



ACCI to determine career stage is that it allows for individuals to "recycle" back to earlier career stages based upon their circumstances, whereas using chronological age or tenure to determine career stage assumes a linear movement through different career stages. Although the ACCI has been used in several studies to determine career stage (e.g., Halpin, Ralph, & Halpin, 1990; Hess & Jepsen, 2009; Luttman, Mittermaier, & Rebele, 2003; Ornstein, Cron, & Slocum, 1989; Smart & Peterson, 1997), it has likely been underutilized given the length of the ACCI.

In this dissertation, I assessed organizational age by measuring job tenure and organizational tenure by asking individuals to self-report the number the number of years they have been in their current job and with their current organization (Pogson et al., 2003). I created a composite organizational age variable by averaging participants' organizational tenure and job tenure. I also performed ad hoc analyses to determine how the results using organizational age compare to results using the ACCI to measure career stage. To measure career stage to conduct ad hoc analyses, participants completed a shortened, 12-item version of the ACCI (Perrone et al., 2003), which assesses four career stages (exploration, establishment, maintenance, and disengagement), and allows for individuals to recycle back to earlier career stages.

Life-Span Concept of Age. According to Levinson's life stage model (e.g., Levinson, 1978; Levinson, 1986), individuals progress through four major eras during the course of their lives, including preadulthood, early adulthood, middle adulthood, and late adulthood. The preadulthood era generally lasts from the ages of conception to 22 years, the early adulthood era lasts from ages 17 to 45 years, the middle adulthood era lasts from 40 to 65 years, and the late adulthood era lasts from ages 60 until death (Levinson, 1978).

In addition to the eras, Levinson (1986) argues there are a set of nine specific periods that define an individual's life, including the early adult transition (ages 17-22 years), entry life



structure for early adulthood (ages 22-28 years), the age 30 transition (ages 28-33 years), the culminating life structure for early adulthood (ages 33-40 years), the midlife transition (ages 40-45 years), the entry life structure for middle adulthood (ages 45-50 years), the age 50 transition (ages 50-55 years), the culminating life structure for middle adulthood (ages 55-60 years), and the late adulthood transition (60-65 years). According to Levinson, the age range associated with the different periods tends to be consistent between individuals, plus or minus two years.

Although Levinson's conceptualization of life stages has been used in numerous studies (e.g., Ornstein, Cron, & Slocum, 1989; Ornstein & Isabella, 1990), its conceptualization fails to take into account the importance of family status in determining life stages, an approach taken in several articles and reviews on life stage theory (e.g., Baltes & Young, 2007). Using the categorization first proposed by Duvall and Hill (1948), Baltes and Young (2007) describe eight life stages of human development, including establishment stage (childless, newly married), first parenthood (family with one child under the age of 3), family with preschool children (oldest child 3-6 years), family with school children (oldest child 6-12 years), family with adolescents (oldest child 13-20 years), family as a launching center (children move out of the home), family in middle years (postprenatal empty nest), family in retirement (breadwinners in retirement).

Much of the research on the impact of family status on life stage has examined life stages in connection with work-family conflict. For example, numerous studies have found that age of youngest child is a consistent predictor of work-family conflict, with age of the youngest child negatively correlated with work-family conflict (e.g., Higgins et al., 1994). Generally, workfamily conflict increases during life stages associated with having children (especially young children), and decreases as individuals move to later life stages (see Baltes & Young, 2007 for a review). Therefore, although there is without question a correlation between the life stages



proposed by Levinson (1978) and those summarized by Baltes and Young (2007), the fact that Baltes and Young's (2007) life stages take into account family status variables adds an element to the study of the stages that Levinson (1978) does not account for. Indeed, variables such as number and age of dependents, as well as marital status, are the types of variables Kooij et al. (2008) argue should be included when measuring the life-span conceptualization of age. Ornstein et al. (1989) found that promotion needs were higher at the Entering Adult World life stage (ages 22-28) relative to all other stages. Other studies have examined the relationship between life stage variables and workplace motives. For example, Holahan (1988) found no need for autonomy differences in marital status or education, but did find autonomy needs predicted increased health. Shockley and Allen (2012) found that married individuals endorsed higher levels of flextime and flexspace motives relative to unmarried individuals.

In this study, following Kooij et al.'s (2011) recommendation, the life-stage conceptualization of age was measured by asking participants to self-report the number of children and adults they care for, age of youngest child, and marital status. Although utilizing these components to measure the life-span concept of age primarily concern the life span framework that takes into account family status (e.g., Baltes & Young, 2007; Duvall & Hill, 1948), the formation of clusters will allow for a test of Levinson's (1986) conceptualization of nine life stage periods. Specifically, since Levinson's (1986) life stages are most easily conceptualized and measured using chronological age as a proxy, if the different profiles created in the cluster analysis have mean chronological ages that align with the recommendations for the life stages periods provided by Levinson (1986), that will generally support Levinson's nine-period life stage theory. Using the life stage theory that incorporates family status variables (Baltes & Young, 2007; Duvall & Hill, 1948) is more applicable in this dissertation, given that a



link was made from age clusters to workplace motivation. Much research has shown that a stronger connection exists between life stage conceptualizations based upon family status (e.g., age of youngest child) relative to chronological age in the prediction of workplace attitudes and motives (e.g., Higgins et al., 1994).

Future Time Perspective (FTP). In addition to the aforementioned conceptualizations of age, another related variable that may play an important impact in developing profiles is one's FTP. According to Cate and John (2007), FTP refers to one's perception of how much time they have left in their future and how they feel about that remaining time. Cate and John (2007) identified two dimensions of FTP, including focus on opportunities and focus on limitations. Focus on opportunities refers to the extent which individuals perceive that many opportunities await them in the future. Focus on limitations refers to the extent to which individuals believe their time is "running out" (Cate & John, 2007, p. 192) or limited. Findings from this study suggested focus on opportunities is significantly higher in the early 20s relative to the 30s and 40s, and that focus on limitations is significantly higher in the 50s relative to early 20s and 30s (Cate & John, 2007). Research by Zacher and colleagues (e.g., Zacher & Frese, 2009) suggests that a third dimension of FTP exists named remaining time at work. Zacher and Frese (2009) found the perceptions of having more remaining time and having more opportunities were related to greater subjective physical health but lower subjective mental health. Findings also suggest that chronological age and being married are related to the perceptions of having less future time (Padawer, Jacobs-Lawson, Hershey, & Thomas, 2007; Zacher & Frese, 2009). More recently, Zacher (2013) examined all three facets of FTP (remaining opportunities at work, remaining time at work, and limitations at work). Using a sample of late career workers (mean



age = 58 years), age was negatively related to focus on opportunities and remaining time, but not the dimension of focus on limitations.

The relationship between motivation and FTP is rather difficult to disentangle, given the overlap that has been aforementioned between age and FTP. In addition, nearly all research that has examined the relationship between FTP and motivation has done so using student samples and educational motivation (e.g., Peetsma, Hascher, van der Veen, & Roede, 2005; Lens et al., 2012). However, one study found that promotion orientation was positively related to focus on opportunities at work (remaining opportunities at work), whereas prevention orientation was positively related to focus on limitations at work (Zacher & de Lange, 2011). In this dissertation, FTP was measured using Carstensen and Lang's (1996) measure. Although I created a composite FTP score for each participant, Carstensen and Lang's (1996) measure allows for FTP to be broken down to the facet levels of focus on limitations and focus on opportunities. In the next section, I discuss previous research findings on relationship between age and workplace motivation, introducing two age development theories. In the end of the next section, I describe the benefits of the person-centered approach this dissertation will employ, how this study capitalizes on limitations in previous research, and derive study hypotheses.

Age and Workplace Motivation

Even though the relationships between age and workplace motivation have been reported in many studies, those studies have typically been focused on answering research questions that do not involve the intersection of age and workplace motivation. Indeed, those studies have tended to report the relationship between age and workplace motivation but not focus the meaning or implication of any relationship (Rudolph et al., 2013). Several meta-analyses have been conducted to examine the relationship between age and workplace motives (Kooij et al.,



2008, 2011). Prior to discussing the results of those meta-analyses, I incorporate several theories that are used to explain the relationship between age and workplace motives.

Selection, Optimization, and Compensation Theory (SOC). SOC posits that individuals use three strategies to adapt throughout the lifespan, including selection, optimization, and compensation (P. B. Baltes & Baltes, 1990). The three aforementioned strategies are used to maximize gains and minimize losses by focusing on resource allocation. Selection refers to the strategy by which individuals set goals. Elective selection occurs when individuals set goals freely (e.g., goal commitment). Loss-based selection occurs when individuals re-evaluate and change their goals based upon the loss of resources. Optimization refers to strategies individuals use to achieve goals, such as practice, modeling, or learning. Compensation occurs when individuals change the means to achieve a goal, when encountered with obstacles to using their original method (e.g., increasing effort, getting helping from others).

According to SOC, individuals use all three strategies across the lifespan to achieve a high-level of functioning. Furthermore, SOC theory posits that as individual's age, individuals increasingly select and pursue goals related to loss prevention and maintenance as opposed to growth or gains (P. B. Baltes & Baltes, 1990). This proposition has been supported in several studies (e.g., Ebner, Freund, & Baltes, 2006; Heckhausen, 1997). Maintenance goals are focused on keeping an individual at their current level of functioning. On the other hand, gain goals are associated with increasing one's level of functioning (Penningroth & Scott, 2012). For example, SOC theory posits that as individual's age, they are less likely than younger workers to be interested in a promotion at work (due to its requirement of increased functioning).

Previous research suggests even though use of SOC behaviors tends to increase as individuals age (e.g., Rudolph et al., 2013; Schmitt, Zacher, & Frese, 2012), SOC behaviors are



related to beneficial outcomes in the workplace for employees throughout the lifespan. For example, SOC behaviors have been associated with lower levels of family and job stressors, which in turn lead to lower reported levels of work-family conflict (Baltes & Heydens-Gahir, 2003). In addition, some research reports a non-linear relationship between aging and SOC behaviors, such that use of SOC strategies is most prevalent in middle life stages relative to younger or older life stages (Baltes & Freund, 2003). Given that the purpose of SOC strategies are to minimize age-related decreases in resources and maximize age-related gains as resources as individuals age, SOC theory posits that as individuals age, they will endorse lower levels of growth motives (e.g., need for development) and higher levels of security motives (e.g., autonomy). Indeed, SOC theory predicts that individuals will endorse lower levels of growth motives as they age due to losses they are experiencing in other areas of functioning (e.g., cognitive ability). On the other hand, SOC theory predicts individuals will endorse higher levels of security motives as they age (e.g., job security, autonomy) in order to preserve the resources they still have.

Socioemotional Selectivity Theory (SEST). SEST (Carstensen, 1992) posits that social interactions are motivated by a variety of different social goals that may change in valence across the lifespan (Carstensen, 1995). Indeed, SEST posits there are two major types of goals, including knowledge-related and emotional (Carstensen, Isaacowitz, & Charles, 1999). When individuals perceive their time left is limitless, SEST posits they will focus on fulfilling knowledge-related goals (e.g., fulfilling growth motives). A key tenet of SEST is that FTP rather than age drives motivational changes in the types of goals one sets (Lockenhoff & Carstensen, 2004). Because there is overlap between FTP and chronological age (e.g., Zacher & Frese, 2009), age was associated with differences in which types of goals individuals pursue, although



Lockenhoff and Carstensen (2004) argue the major driving force in types of goals set is FTP as opposed to age. As one example where FTP is impacted by variables outside of the aging process, research found that cancer patients tended to increase their interaction with unfamiliar contacts when they perceived their cancer treatment was effective (Pinquart &Silbereisen, 2006).

According to Lang and Carstensen (2002), types of goals associated with a limitless FTP include increasing one's network for use in the future and becoming financially independent. On the other hand, as perceived time left shifts from limitless to nearly over, SEST posits individuals move from fulfilling knowledge-related goals to fulfilling emotional goals (Carstensen et al., 1999). According to Lang and Carstensen (2002), types of goals associated with a low FTP include emotional regulation and generativity. According to Lang and Carstensen (2002) and SEST, when individuals have the same FTP, differences commonly seen in terms of chronological age disappear. Indeed, Lang and Carstensen (2002) review a number of studies that illustrate how emotional goals are prioritized as individuals view their time left as limited, regardless of age.

Much support has been garnered for SEST. For example, the seminal work of SEST found that as individuals' age, they strategically reduce their interaction frequency with acquaintances but increase their interaction frequency with close friends and partners (Carstensen, 1992). In addition to decreasing their interaction frequency with more peripheral friends, findings suggest older individuals have greater satisfaction with the size of their social networks relative to younger individuals, suggesting older individuals strategically decrease their number of interaction partners as they age, in line with SEST (Lansford, Sherman, & Antonucci, 1998). Lang and Carstensen (2002) found that individuals who viewed their time left as limited tended to set emotionally meaningful goals, which were associated with smaller personal



networks and increased social satisfaction. Supporting SEST, Hendricks and Cutler (2004) found older individuals tend to volunteer more hours than younger individuals. The relationship between SEST, FTP and workplace motives is clear. SEST posits that FTP plays an integral role in one's motivation. Specifically, SEST predicts individuals with a shorter FTP will focus on fulfilling knowledge-related goals and motives, such as growth motives (e.g., need for promotion) and social motives (e.g., need for affiliation). On the other hand, individuals with shorter FTP will focus on fulfilling security motives (e.g., job security, need for autonomy).

Relationship Between Age and Workplace Motives. Meta-analytic evidence suggests there is a small negative relationship between age and growth motives (Kooij et al., 2011). Moderator analyses performed by Kooij et al. (2011) also suggested that the negative relationship between age and growth motives was significantly stronger for those older than 40 years of age relative to those younger than 40 years of age, suggesting the negative relationship between age and growth motives is negative and non-linear in nature. Kooij et al. (2011) also examined the relationship between chronological age and types of growth motives, finding that need for advancement/promotion and need for development are negatively related to age. In a separate meta-analysis, Ng and Feldman (2012) found a negative relationship between chronological age and both motivation to learn and learning self-efficacy. Ng and Feldman (2012) also found a negative relationship between chronological age and career development behaviors. Together, these findings suggest that as individuals' age, their growth motives decrease. These findings support P. B. Baltes and Baltes' (1990) SOC theory, which posits that as individual's age, they select and pursue maintenance and loss-prevention goals as opposed to gain goals (e.g., career development, learning new things).



In regards to social motives, meta-analytic results suggested no relationship existed between age and social motives (Kooij et al., 2011). Moderator analyses performed by Kooij et al. (2011) suggested the relationship between age and social motives was negative for those under 36 years of age, positive for those between 36 and 40 years of age, and that no relationship existed for those over 40 years of age. Kooij et al. (2011) also examined the relationship between chronological age and types of social motives, finding that need for affiliation was negatively related to age. These results were supported Carstensen's SEST (1992), which posits as individuals move from having a limitless FTP to shorter FTP, they decrease their number of casual social partners and interactions, but increase the number of interactions with close friends and family. Because shorter FTP is associated with increased chronological age (Zacher & Frese, 2009), one would expect that as individual's age, their social motives decrease.

Finally, contrary to SOC theory meta-analytic results suggest a small negative relationship exists between chronological age and security motives (Kooij et al., 2011). Moderator analyses performed by Kooij et al. (2011) suggested the strongest negative relationship between age and security motives was for those under 36 years of age. On the other hand, there was no relationship between age and security motives for those between 36 and 40 years of age, and the negative relationship between age and security motives was very weak for those over 40 years of age. These findings suggest that the relationship between age and security motives may be non-linear in nature. Kooij et al. (2011) also examined the relationship between chronological age and types of security motives, including job security, need for autonomy, need for achievement, and compensation/benefits.

Meta-analytic also evidence suggests there are positive relationships between chronological age and job security, need for autonomy, and need for achievement, but a negative



relationship between age and the importance of compensation/benefits (Kooij et al., 2011). Of all the correlations between age and security motives, the correlation between age and need for autonomy was strongest, suggesting need for autonomy is the most important security motive that drives the overall relationship between age and security motives. This finding has been supported by more recent research which found that the negative relationship between age and workability was weakest when individuals felt their jobs allowed freedom and independence in how one works (high job control; Weigl, Muller, Hornung, Zacher, & Angerer, 2013).

Person-Centered Approach vs. Variable-Centered Approach. There are two major approaches that can be used to examine the relationship between age and workplace motives. To date, nearly all research has utilized a variable-centered approach. The "variable-centered" approach views the variable as the main theoretical and analytical unit, and uses analyses such as multiple regression to test hypotheses (see Bergman & Magnusson, 1997 for a review). Indeed, most research that has examined the relationship between age and workplace motivation has reported only the correlation between chronological age and the type of motivation in their study (Rudolph et al., 2013).

Although the variable-centered approach provides valuable information about the direct and unique links of each conceptualization of age with workplace motivation, it ignores the possibility that distinct constellations of age profiles exist and that these age profiles may correspond to differences in workplace motivation. Contrary to the variable-centered approach, the person-centered approach views information about individuals, rather than the variable itself, as the central object of interest, and studies "individuals on the basis of their patterns of individual characteristics that are relevant for the problem under consideration" (Bergman & Magnusson, 1997, p. 293). Often, the person-centered approach is leveraged using cluster



analysis in order to detect naturally occurring groups defined by particular profiles. In the case of conceptualizations of age, the conceptualizations would be "considered only as components of the pattern under analysis and interpreted in relation to all the other variables considered simultaneously; the relevant aspect is the profile of scores" (Bergman & Magnusson, 1997, p. 293). This generation of profiles enables one to draw conclusions on the ways in which different age conceptualizations interact to form distinct patterns that impact the ways one is motivated in the workplace. Once the age profiles are created, scores on different types of motives were compared across the profiles to determine at what aging profiles individuals are mostly likely to be motivated by growth, social, or security needs. Although underutilized in the study of age, the person-centered approach and cluster analysis have been used in the studying of many psychological processes, including motivation (e.g., Kossek, Ruderman, Braddy, & Hannum, 2012; Moran, Diefendorff, Kim, & Liu, 2012). The person-centered approach was utilized in this dissertation to find distinct age conceptualization profiles that may be differentially related to the different types of workplace motives.

Hypothesis Development

Since more variance is found in the age conceptualizations of subjective age, functional age, and FTP as individuals age chronologically, the majority of hypotheses surrounding the different age profiles or clusters that was found concern employees at mid-ages (e.g., approximately 45 years of age) and at later ages (e.g., approximately 60 years of age). Please see Table 1 for a summary of Hypotheses 1-7. These seven hypotheses were formed using many of the research findings discussed previously. These may not be the only profiles that exist. In addition, it is possible that some hypothesized profiles was supported in the cluster analysis and some will not be supported. As I detail in the methods section, support for these original



hypotheses were tested. If results suggest alternate profiles exist, additional analyses will be conducted. Hypotheses 8-14 were conducted using the cluster solutions that have the best empirical support. Please see Table 2 for a summary of Hypotheses 8-14. Given the most overlap is expected between the conceptualizations of age at low chronological ages, the following hypothesis is made:

Hypothesis 1: A profile will emerge with individuals at low chronological age, low organizational age, older or same subjective age (relative to chronological age), great physical health, low number of dependents, and longer FTP. This profile would be entitled "Classic Young Age".

Arguably, the middle chronological age stage (approximately ages 35 to 50 years of age) has the least amount of overlap between conceptualizations of age. That is, between individuals, there will exist great variability, especially in terms of the life span conceptualization of age (e.g., number of dependents, marital status) and organizational age. The first middle chronological age profile is similar to the only low chronological age profile, with expected main effect increases in chronological age, organizational age, and number of dependents, and expected decreases in physical health as individual age chronologically. In addition, it is expected that individuals will have younger subjective age (relative to their chronological age) than those in Profile 1. These expectations in terms of worse health and younger subjective age as individuals' age chronologically are in line with pervious findings outlined in the introduction.



Hypothesis 2: A profile will emerge with individuals at medium chronological age, medium organizational age, younger subjective age (relative to chronological age), good physical health, average of two dependents, and average FTP. This profile would be entitled "Classic Middle Age".

The section on organizational age earlier outlined how individuals can recycle to previous career stages. Hypothesis 3 accounts for these individuals who have recycled to an earlier career stage based upon their move to a new role within their organization (low job tenure) or moved to a new organization (low organizational tenure). Other than decreased job tenure relative to Profile 2, there are no expected differences between Profiles 2 and 3.

Hypothesis 3: A profile will emerge with individuals at medium chronological age, low organizational age, younger subjective age (relative to chronological age), good physical health, average of two dependents, and average FTP. This profile would be entitled "Recycled Career Middle Age".

In addition to organizational age, there will exist differences between individuals at the middle chronological stage on the life-span conceptualization age variables of marital status and number of dependents. Profile 4 takes into account that 18% of U.S. women do not have children, a trend which has increased from 10% in 1976 (Livingston & Cohn, 2010). The only differences between Profiles 2 and 4 are that Profile 4 has no dependents.

Hypothesis 4: A profile will emerge with individuals at medium chronological age,



medium organizational age, younger subjective age (relative to chronological age), good physical health, no dependents, and average FTP. This profile would be entitled "No Dependents Middle Age".

Hypotheses 5-7 regard those in late stage chronological age. From the middle to late chronological age stage, there are expected increases in organizational age. In addition, in line with previous research, individuals are generally expected to have poorer health, younger subjective age (relative to their chronological age), and shorter FTP as they move from the middle to late chronological age stage. Profile 5 reflects this general trend moving from middle to late chronological age stage. Number of dependents are expected to be 0 for those in Profiles 5 and 6, but greater than one in Hypothesis 7, reflecting those who care for aging parents or have dependent children.

Hypothesis 5: A profile will emerge with individuals at high chronological age, high organizational age, much younger subjective age (relative to chronological age), good physical health, no dependents, and shorter FTP. This profile would be entitled "Classic Late Age".

Given that health is expected to be lowest in the late chronological age stage, it is expected that a profile of older workers with poor health and associated shorter FTP will emerge in Profile 6. The expected relationship between poor health and FTP is supported by previous research. The expected poorer health and shorter FTP with this profile are also expected to be related to an older or same subjective age (relative to chronological age). Concisely, the


differences between Profiles 5 and 6 are that those in Profile 6 are expected to have poorer health, a shorter FTP, and older subjective age.

Hypothesis 6: A profile will emerge with individuals at high chronological age, high organizational age, older or the same subjective age (relative to chronological age), fair physical health, no dependents, and Shorter FTP. This profile would be entitled "Late Age Shorter FTP".

The final profile takes into account late chronological age stage employees who have aging parents or dependent children that count on them, given the increasing trend for this to be the case. Indeed, findings suggest 25% of employees aged 45-74 years care for one or more dependents, and 14% of older workers care for both a dependent child and adult (Groeneman, 2008). The only difference between Profiles 5 and 7 are that those in Profile 7 have dependents or adults they care for.

Hypothesis 7: A profile will emerge with individuals at high chronological age, high organizational age, much younger subjective age (relative to chronological age), good physical health, at least 1 dependent and shorter FTP. This profile would be entitled "Late Age with Dependents".

Hypotheses 8-14 are centered on the relationship between the hypothesized age profiles and workplace motives. Even though hypotheses were made only using the major motive classes of growth, social, and security, we will test the relationship between the age conceptualization



clusters and the smaller facets of motives (e.g., need for autonomy, need for achievement, compensation and benefits and job security for security motives). Please see Table 2 for a summary of Hypotheses 8-14.

Hypothesis 8: Supporting SOC and SEST, Profile 1 will have the highest level of growth and social motives, and lowest level of security motives.

Hypothesis 9: Profile 3 will have significantly higher growth and social motives relative to Profile 2 due to lower levels of organizational age.

Hypothesis 10: Profile 4 will have significantly higher growth motives and lower security motives than Profiles 2 and 3 due to having no dependents.

Hypothesis 11: Supporting SEST theory, Profile 6 will have significantly lower social motives relative to Profile 5 due to their shorter FTP and below average functional age.

Hypothesis 12: Supporting SOC theory, Profile 7 will have significantly growth and security motives than Profiles 5 and 6 because dependents live with them.

Hypothesis 13: Supporting SEST theory, profiles with similar levels of FTP will show no differences in social motives.



Hypothesis 14: Supporting SOC and SEST theory, Profile 5 will have lower levels of growth and social motives than Profiles 1 and 2, and higher levels of security motives than Profiles 1 and 2.



CHAPTER 3: METHODS

Participants

Qualtrics panelists from the United States (n = 400) who reported working thirty or more hours per week in a full-time job participated in the study. The participant sample was stratified to be in line with the chronological age distribution of the U.S. workforce (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2015, see Table 3). Given many of the study hypotheses revolve around individuals at middle and later age, we oversampled middle and later age participants to ensure an adequate sample.

Prior to conducting any analyses on study hypotheses, analyses were conducted to detect participants that were carelessly responding to the survey. The first careless responding analysis concerned the variable of subjective age. Participants completed a 4-item measure that asked them to self-report how old in age they felt in comparison to members of their peer group, using a 1 (a lot younger than my age) to 7 (a lot older than my age) response range (see Appendix F; Montepare, Rierdan, Koff, & Stubbs, 1989). If participants answered with any response other than "4" (same as their chronological age) on the measure, they were asked to self-report in years the age they felt. Therefore, analyses were conducted to determine participants that reported feeling younger relative to most people their age (indicated by a 1-3 response on the Likert scale), but reported on the follow-up open-ended question feeling the same number of years as their chronological age, or older than their chronological age, as these two patterns of responses on consecutive questions indicates careless responding. In addition, I determined participants that reported feeling older relative to most people their age (indicated by a 5-7 response on the Likert scale), but reported on the follow-up open-ended question feeling the same number of years as their chronological age, or younger than their chronological age, as these two patterns of



responses on consecutive questions indicates careless responding. Analyses revealed that on the four subjective age questions, 33 participants had at least two subjective age scores on the Likert scale that were incompatible with the responses given on the follow-up open-ended question. Given these incompatible scores, the importance of subjective age to test study hypotheses, and impact of careless responding on the validity of results, these 33 participants were deleted from further analysis.

The next step was to conduct analyses on the amount of time it took participants to complete the survey, as taking too much time or too little time to complete the survey may indicate careless responding. Seventeen participants took over one hour to complete the survey, which consisted of only 130 items. In the final sample used for analyses, participants (n = 348) took from 6.8 minutes to 58.3 minutes to complete the survey (M = 17.80 minutes, SD = 9.08 minutes). Therefore, participants who took over one hour to complete the survey had a *z* score of 4.31. In addition, the one hour response time mark indicated a gap in the distribution of response times. Specifically, the five participants with response times nearest the one hour mark had the following distribution of response times: 55.5 minutes, 56.0 minutes, 57.8 minutes, 58.3 minutes, and 69.3 minutes. The eleven minute difference in response times between 58.3 minutes and 69.3 minutes was further evidence that one hour may be a good cutoff point that indicates lack of focus and attention to completing the survey.

Analyses were conducted to determine the profile of individuals who took over one hour to complete the survey. The ages of these participants (n = 17) ranged from 27 to 61 years (M =41.35, SD = 12.10), which was very similar to the sample used to test study hypotheses (n =348; range 20 to 71 years of age, M = 45.20 years, SD = 8.90 years). The hours worked per week for those that took over an hour to complete the survey (n = 17) ranged from 32 to 55 (M =



40.41 years, SD = 5.95 years), which was very similar to the sample used to test study hypotheses (n = 348; range 30 to 80 years, M = 39.85 years, SD = 5.51 years). 65% of participants that took over an hour to complete the survey (n = 17) did not have dependent children (compared to 53% of the sample used to test study hypotheses; n = 348). 71% of participants that took over an hour to complete the survey (n = 17) were female (compared to 63% of the sample used to test study hypotheses; n = 348). 88% of participants that took over an hour to complete the survey (n = 17) were Caucasian (compared to 81% of the sample used to test study hypotheses; n = 348). Because participants who took over one hour to complete the survey were statistically outliers, the distribution of response times indicated a natural divergence in response times at one hour, and there were no apparent differences between the profile of those taking over an hour to complete the survey (n = 17) relative to those participants that were included to test study hypotheses (n = 348), the seventeen participants who took over one hour to complete the survey were deleted from further analysis.

Even though it could be argued that taking under ten minutes to complete the 130-item survey indicates careless responding, I utilized three attention filler questions. These items were mixed into the survey and told participants how to respond (e.g., "3" on a 1 to 7 scale). Individuals who did not answer correctly to the attention filler questions were excluded from the final data set of 400 participants sent to me from Qualtrics. 15% of participants took under ten minutes to complete the survey, and based upon the mean (M = 17.80 minutes) and standard deviation (SD = 9.08 minutes) of response times, completing the survey in under ten minutes was not a statistically significant response times. Because those who took under ten minutes to complete the survey were a substantial amount of the sample size (15%), answered the filler questions correctly, and did not have two or more subjective age scores on the Likert scale that



were incompatible with the responses given on the follow-up open-ended question, participants that took under ten minutes to complete the survey were included in further analyses.

Finally, in screening for univariate outliers, two participants had z-scores on several workplace motives that were above 3.29. Given their scores were univariate outliers on several workplace motives, these two participants were deleted from further analysis. After the outlier analysis was completed, 348 participants remained in the data set and were used to test the study hypotheses. All further descriptions of the participants in the study refer to the remaining sample after careless responding and outlier analyses were completed (n = 348).

Participants ranged in age from 20 to 71 years of age (M = 45.20 years, SD = 8.90 years). 10% of participants were in their twenties. 24% of participants were in their thirties. 24% of participants were in their forties. 27% of participants were in their fifties. 14% of participants were in their sixties. 1% of participants were in their seventies. The majority of participants were female (61%) and did not have dependents (53%). In this study, dependents referred to children living in the household who were cared for financially by their parents. As seen in Table 4, the participant sample consisted of a lower percentage of workers in their twenties relative to the U.S. workforce distribution (see Table 3). However, the participant sample had a higher representation of workers in their thirties, forties (with the exception of the 45-49 age group), fifties, and sixties (see Table 4) relative to the U.S. workforce distribution (see Table 3), allowing for adequate testing of study hypotheses.

A majority of participants were married and living with their partner (51%) or single (35%). The sample had a large distribution in educational attainment, as 35% of participants had a Bachelor's degree, 34% had at least some college, and 17% were high school graduates. The majority of the sample was White (81%), followed by African-American (7%), Asian (5%) and



Hispanic (4%). Two or More, Native Americans, Middle East/Arab, and Other ethnicities made up the remaining 3% of participants. Participants' represented a wide variety of industries, with the top three industries including retail trade (13%) education (12%) and healthcare (10%). 30% of respondents indicated they worked in "Other industries".

Published studies using Qualtrics survey panels as the participant pool can be found in all of the top-tier journals in Industrial/Organizational Psychology, including *Journal of Applied Psychology* (e.g., DeCelles, DeRue, Margolis, & Ceranic, 2012; Strauss, Griffin, & Parker, 2012), *Journal of Management* (e.g., Dillon, Tinsley, Madsen, & Rogers, 2013), *Personnel Psychology* (e.g., Holtz, in press), *Journal of Organizational Behavior* (e.g., Gu, McFerran, Aquino, & Kim (2014), and *Academy of Management Journal* (e.g., Long, Bendersky, & Morrill, 2011).

Materials

Participants completed a 130-item survey and were asked to self-report questions in conjunction with their conceptualizations of age, workplace motives, and FTP. To measure *chronological age*, participants self-reported their age in years (see Appendix A). To measure the *organizational age* component of age, participants' self-reported the number of years they have been employed in their current organization (*organizational tenure*), number of years they have been performing the same or similar role (*job tenure*), and number of years they have been in their current industry (*industry tenure*); See Appendix B). Participants also self-reported the number of years they have been in their current industry (*industry tenure*); See Appendix B). Participants also self-reported the number of years they have been in their current industry. To measure career stage and allow for recycling back to earlier career stages for the ad hoc analyses, participants completed Perrone, Gordon, Fitch, and Civiletto's (2003) 12-item short form of Super, Thompson, and Lindeman's (1988) 60-item Adult Career Concerns Inventory (see Appendix C). Participants self-reported the



extent to which they have concern about completing certain tasks (e.g., "Finding the line of work that I am best suited for" for the exploration stage, "Settling down in a job I can stay with" for the establishment stage, "Keeping the respect of people in my field" for the maintenance stage", and "Planning well for retirement" for the disengagement stage) using a 1 (no concern) to 7 (great concern) response range. To measure functional age, participants completed Kristensen, Hannerz, Hogh, and Borg's (2005) 1-item measure, "How would you rate your general health", using a 1 (poor) to 5 (excellent) response range (see Appendix D). To measure the life span conceptualization of age, participants self-reported their number of dependents (referred to children living in the household who were cared for financially by their parents), age of youngest child, number of individuals they care for, and marital status (see Appendix E). To measure the subjective age conceptualization of age, participants completed a 4-item measure that asked them to self-report how old in age they feel, look, act, and the age that reflects their interests in comparison to members of their peer group, using a 1 (a lot younger than my age) to 7 (a lot older than my age) response range (see Appendix F; Montepare, Rierdan, Koff, & Stubbs, 1989). The same conceptualization of the four facets of subjective age has been utilized in numerous studies (e.g., Hubley & Russell, 2009; Kaliterna et al., 2002). In addition, participants answered with any response other than "4" (same as my age) on the measure, they were asked to selfreport in years the age they look, feel, act, and the age that reflects their interests. In this second method, subjective age was calculated by creating a composite of the four items, and subtracting chronological age from the composite subjective age score. Negative scores indicated more youthful subjective age. In addition, this acted as a check for outliers, as individuals who responded they felt older (or younger) than their chronological age, but then self-reported feeling younger (or older) were considered as possible outliers for analyses. FTP was measured with



Carstensen and Lang's (1996) 10-item scale using a 1 (*very untrue*) to 7 (*very true*) response range (see Appendix G). A sample item from this scale is "Many opportunities await me in the future."

To assess growth motives, participants completed three separate measures including development/challenge, growth need strength, and advancement/promotion motives. Development/challenge motives was measured with Kooij and Van de Voorde's (2011) 4-item scale using a 1 (*totally not important*) to 7 (*totally important*) response range (see Appendix H). A sample item from this scale is "How important is the opportunity for personal development for you?" Growth need strength was measured with Hackman and Oldham's (1980) 6-item scale using a 1 (*totally not important*) to 7 (*totally important*) response range. (see Appendix I). A sample item from this scale is "How important is the feeling of worthwhile accomplishment I get from doing my job?" Advancement/promotion needs was measured with Neubert et al.'s (2008) 9-item scale using a 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 7 (*strongly agree*) response range (see Appendix J). A sample item from this scale is "I take chances at work to maximize my goals for advancement."

To assess social motives, participants completed four measures, including need for affiliation, helping behavior, need for recognition, and prestige/status. Need for affiliation was measured with Steers and Braunstein's (1976) 5-item scale using a 1 (*never*) to 7 (*always*) response range (see Appendix K). A sample item from this scale is "When I have a choice, I try to work in a group instead of by myself?" Conceptualized as communion striving in Barrick, Stewart, and Piotrowski's (2002) original work, helping behavior was measured with Barrick et al.'s (2002) 9-item measure using a 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 7 (*strongly agree*) response range (see Appendix L). A sample item from this scale is "I focus my attention on getting along with



others at work." Need for recognition was measured with Alpander and Carter's (1991) 2-item measure using a 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 7 (*strongly agree*) response range (see Appendix M). A sample item from this scale is "I welcome assignments that provide a lot of recognition?" Conceptualized as status striving by Barrick et al. (2002), prestige/status was measured with Barrick et al.'s (2002) 11-item measure using a 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 7 (*strongly agree*) response range (see Appendix N). A sample item from this scale is "I feel a thrill when I think about getting a higher status position at work."

To assess security motives, participants completed five measures, including need for autonomy, need for achievement, use of skills (self-actualization), compensation and benefits, and need for security. Need for autonomy and need for achievement was measured with Steers and Braunstein's (1976) 5-item scales using a 1 (never) to 7 (always) response range. A sample item from the need for autonomy scale is "I disregard rules and regulations that hamper my personal freedom" (See Appendix O). A sample item from the need for achievement scale is "I do my best work when my job assignments are fairly difficult" (see Appendix P). Use of skills was measured with two items from Porter's (1961) self-actualization measure using a 1 (totally *not important*) to 7 (*very important*) response range (see Appendix Q). A sample item from this scale is "How important is the feeling of worthwhile accomplishment in your position?" Compensation and benefits motives was measured with Porter's (1961) 1-item measure using a 1 (totally not important) to 7 (very important) response range (see Appendix R). A sample item from this scale is "How important is the pay for your position?" Need for security was measured with nine items from Neubert et al.'s (2008) need for security measure using a 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree) response range (see Appendix S). A sample item from this scale is "I concentrate on completing my work tasks correctly to increase my job security."



CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

Analyses

Descriptive Analyses. Means, standard deviations, ranges, and reliability coefficients of the study scales are provided in Table 5. Composite averages for each scale were formed. A composite for organizational age was created using the average of the job tenure and organizational tenure item ($\alpha = .89$). Industry tenure was not included in the creation of the composite, as adding it decreased the reliability of the organizational age composite. As seen in Table 5, on average participants had younger subjective age (M = 3.46, SD = 0.99) and above-average health (M = 3.34, SD = 0.97). All motivation scales had scale averages greater than the scale midpoint (4). Need for autonomy had the lowest mean score (M = 4.06, SD = 1.07).

All reliability coefficients for the motivation scales were above .60, with the exception of need for affiliation ($\alpha = .09$), need for autonomy ($\alpha = .65$), and need for recognition ($\alpha = .66$). Further inspection revealed removal of the two reverse-coded need for affiliation items raised the reliability to $\alpha = .37$. Even though the reliability for the need for affiliation scale was extremely low, similar low reliabilities have been found using Steers and Braunstein's (1976) need for affiliation scale, including $\alpha = ..11$ in Dreher (1980), $\alpha = .09$ in Williams & Woodward, (1980), and $\alpha = .18$ in Joiner (1982; see Dreher and Mai-Dalton, 1983 for a review). Given the low reliability of the need for affiliation scale, it was removed from any subsequent analyses.

Furthermore, initial reliability of the need for achievement scale was $\alpha = .55$. Further inspection revealed removal of the one reverse-coded need for achievement item raised the reliability to $\alpha = .73$. Therefore, for all subsequent analyses, the four-item need for achievement was used to create the need for achievement composite. The initial reliability for the need for autonomy scale was $\alpha = .63$. Further inspection revealed removal of one of the reverse coded



need for autonomy items raised the reliability to $\alpha = .65$. Therefore, for all subsequent analyses, the four-item need for autonomy scale was used to create the need for autonomy composite. Even though the reliability coefficients for need for autonomy ($\alpha = .65$) and need for recognition ($\alpha = .66$) were below the typical standard of $\alpha = .70$ (e.g., Nunnaly, 1978), a reliability of above .70 is desirable but not a hardened guideline, and Kooij et al.'s (2011) meta-analysis found that often the reliability coefficients for Steers and Braunstein's (1976) Manifest Needs Questionnaire is below .70.

Correlations between all study variables are presented in Table 6. There was strong overlap between the six conceptualization of age variables. Chronological age was significantly related to all conceptualization of age variables, most strongly with organizational age (r = .43, p < .001) and most weakly with health (r = -0.13, p = .01). Subjective age was weakly correlated with all age conceptualizations except organizational age and number of dependents, and was most highly correlated with health and chronological age, indicating that feeling younger than one's chronological age is associated with increased chronological age (r = -0.29, p = .001) and health (r = -0.29, p = .001), both of which have been found in previous research (e.g., Borzumato-Gainey et al., 2009; Mock & Eibach, 2011). Organizational age was unrelated to the age conceptualizations of FTP, health, and number of dependents.

As posited by SEST subjective age was negatively correlated with FTP (r = -.16, p = .002), indicating that feeling younger than one's chronological age is associated with greater feelings that one's future is long. In addition to its relationship with subjective age, better health was positively related to FTP (r = .44, p = .001). Number of dependents was weakly correlated with subjective age (r = .12, p = .03) and FTP (r = .16, p = .003), and most strongly with chronological age (r = -.27, p = .001). As seen in Table 5 and outlined in the Methods section, I



calculated both a subjective age score and subjective age discrepancy score. As seen in Table 6, subjective age measured on the Likert scale was strongly correlated with the subjective age discrepancy score (r = .81, p < .001). In addition, the direction of the correlation (positive or negative) between all study variables and subjective age was the same for both subjective age and the subjective age discrepancy score. However, the magnitude of the relationships was slightly different. For example, chronological age was more strongly related to the subjective age discrepancy score than subjective age (-.47 vs. -.29). However, FTP and health were more strongly related to subjective age as opposed to the discrepancy score. These results indicate that both subjective age and subjective age discrepancy are valid measures of subjective age. For all future analyses, I use subjective age as opposed to the subjective age discrepancy score.

As seen in Table 6, the correlations between age conceptualizations and workplace motivation were generally weak. Focusing on only correlations greater than .20, need for achievement was positively correlated with FTP (r = .35) and health (r = .28), need for recognition was negatively correlated with chronological age (r = -.26), prestige was negatively correlated with chronological age (r = -.23) and positively correlated with FTP (r = .23) and health (r = .20), need for promotion was negatively correlated with chronological age (r = -.38) and positively related to FTP (r = .42) and health (r = .25), use of skills was positively related to FTP (r = .25), GNS was positively related to FTP (r = .38) and health (r = .22). The intercorrelations between the different workplace motives were generally high (see Table 6).

Cluster Analysis. To complete Hypotheses 1-7 regarding the age conceptualization profiles, cluster analysis was utilized. Although several studies have reviewed the lack of any sample size guidance for cluster analysis (e.g., Dolnicar, 2002), one study (Formann, 1984)



suggests the minimum sample size when performing cluster analysis is 2^k , where *k* represents the number of variables. In this dissertation, given six variables were used to form clusters (chronological age, subjective age, health, organizational age, FTP, and number of dependents), the minimum recommended sample size was 64. Therefore, the sample size of 348 was more than adequate. Three different major types of cluster analysis exist, including hierarchical cluster analysis, *k-means* cluster analysis, and two-step cluster analysis (Norusis, 2012). The appropriateness of which type of cluster analysis to utilize depends on several factors, including size of the dataset, types of variables in the data set (e.g., continuous, categorical), and whether or not specific hypotheses are derived a priori, or the analysis is exploratory in nature. Hierarchical cluster analysis is particularly useful when one has a small data set, does not have a priori hypotheses, and uses only one type of variable. *K-means* cluster analysis is particularly useful with smaller data sets, a priori hypotheses, and only uses one type of variable. Two-step cluster analysis is particularly useful when using large data sets, no a priori hypotheses, and when there is a mix of categorical and continuous variables in the analysis.

K-means cluster analysis is the most appropriate cluster analysis to test study hypotheses given this study had a small to medium data set, a priori hypotheses, and only utilized continuous variables. However, prior to conducting *k-means* cluster analysis, I performed hierarchical cluster analysis to ensure the data suggested there were actually seven clusters, in line with study hypotheses (see Table 1). The hierarchical cluster analysis was conducted in two major steps. First, means of the six age conceptualization variables were standardized to 0 and standard deviations were standardized to 1 (*z-score*). In addition, univariate and multivariate outliers were screened for and deleted appropriately (two cases mentioned in the Methods section), given their large effect in *k-means* cluster analysis. Next, hierarchical cluster analysis utilizing Ward's



(1963) method and squared Euclidean distance measure of similarity was conducted. Inspection of the agglomeration schedule (See Table 7) indicated a large increase in the coefficients in the last four stages of the cluster analysis, indicating a greater distance and heterogeneity of clusters being combined in the last four stages. As discussed by Yim and Ramdeen (2015), the first large increase in coefficients within the agglomeration schedule indicates a location at which the clustering process should be ended, as the cases being combined in those clusters are very different. Inspection of the agglomeration schedule revealed the clustering process should be ended prior to the last four stages.

In addition to the aggolomeration schedule, I examined the dendrogram to determine the number of clusters that should be retained. The dendrogram can be viewed in Figure 1. As discussed by Yim and Ramdeen (2015), a useful approach to determining the number of clusters to retain is to use information from both the agglomeration schedule and dendrogram. Since inspection of the aggolomeration schedule revealed the last four stages should be eliminated from the clustering process (see Table 7), I have drawn a dotted vertical line within the dendrogram in Figure 1 at the point at which the last four stages would be eliminated from the cluster solution (as indicated by the four vertical lines to the right of the dotted vertical line). As seen in Figure 1, this vertical line passes through five clusters, indicating that a five-cluster solution should be retained by the k-means cluster analysis. The five cluster solution was contrary to the study hypotheses of a seven-cluster solution. Even though seven clusters were not supported by the hierarchical cluster analysis, it is still possible that some of the hypothesized clusters could still be found in the five-cluster solution. Therefore, the next step was to conduct *k*-means cluster analysis on the six standardized age conceptualization variables. In line with the hierarchical cluster analysis, k was set to five clusters in the analysis. The cluster analysis was



completed after ten iterations, with 87 participants (25%) in Cluster 1, 87 participants (25%) in Cluster 2, 67 participants (19%) in Cluster 3, 70 participants (20%) in Cluster 4, and 36 participants (10%) in Cluster 5.

As seen in Table 8, Cluster 1 (n = 87) consisted of participants with older chronological age, above average FTP, average organizational age, the smallest number of dependents and best health of any cluster, as well as the youngest subjective age of any cluster. This cluster was not hypothesized in Table 1. Given the attributes of the cluster, this cluster was titled "Late Age Longer FTP". Cluster 2 (n = 87) consisted of participants with the youngest average chronological age, lowest organizational age, highest FTP, and oldest subjective age of any cluster, as well as above average health. This cluster corresponded very closely with the hypothesized "Classic Young Age" profile (see Table 1). Cluster 3 (n = 67) consisted of participants with medium chronological age, the highest number of dependents of any cluster, average health and organizational age, above average FTP, and slightly older than average subjective age. This cluster corresponded very closely with the hypothesized "Classic Middle Age" profile (see Table 1). Cluster 4 (n = 70) consisted of participants with older chronological age, slightly older than average subjective age, average organizational age, and the poorest health and lowest FTP of any cluster. This cluster was similar to Cluster 1 in terms all age conceptualizations, with the exception of lower FTP and poorer health. This cluster corresponded very closely with the hypothesized "Late Age Shorter FTP" profile (see Table 1). Cluster 5 (n =36) consisted of participants with the oldest chronological age and organizational age of any cluster, average health, below average FTP, and more youthful subjective than average. This cluster corresponded very closely with the hypothesized "Classic Late Age" profile (see Table 1). Clusters 1, 4, and 5 were similar in their older chronological age. The differences were that



Cluster 1 had much more youthful subjective age, longer FTP, and greater health relative to Clusters 4 and 5. Cluster 5 had more organizational tenure than Clusters 1 and 4, and had more youthful subjective age, longer FTP, and greater health relative to Cluster 4. Cluster 4 had the least youthful subjective age, shortest FTP, and poorest health of any age. In total, four of the five clusters corresponded to hypothesized clusters seen in Table 1 (Clusters 1, 2, 5, and 6 from Table 1), whereas the hypothesized Clusters 3, 4, and 7 from Table 1 were not supported. The Late Age Longer FTP cluster (Cluster 1 in Table 8) was the only found cluster that was not hypothesized.

ANOVAs on Age Conceptualizations. To determine the extent to which significant differences existed between the age conceptualization profiles on the age conceptualizations, six one way ANOVAs, were conducted. In each case, the independent variable was cluster membership, and the dependent variable was the age conceptualization being analyzed. Given that all seven hypotheses in Table 1 were not supported, and that a cluster not hypothesized (Cluster 1) emerged, I conducted post hoc analyses as opposed to planned comparisons. All post hoc tests were completed using the Bonferroni correction. Specifically, in each one-way ANOVA, there were ten pairwise comparisons, given there were five clusters. Therefore, *p* values were only significant at p < .05/10 (number of comparisons). Therefore, significant differences between the clusters existed when the differences were significant at p < .005. Table 8 gives a breakdown of all ANOVAs results and significant differences. Table 9 summarizes the major differences between the clusters on the age conceptualizations.

A one-way ANOVA suggested there were significant differences in chronological age, F (4, 342) = 109.98, p = <.001 between the age profiles. Levene's test was significant, F (4, 342) = 5.00, p = .001, indicating the equal variances cannot be assumed. Since unequal variances cannot



be assumed, a Welch (1951) F was conducted. Results indicated significant differences in chronological age between the age profiles, F(4, 147.63) = 156.78, p < .001. Because unequal variances were found, post-hoc analyses were conducted using the Games-Howell post hoc test.

Supporting Hypotheses 1 and 2, Games-Howell post hoc tests revealed participants in the Classic Young Age cluster had significantly younger chronological age (M = 32.53, SD = 6.36, p < .001) than participants in each of the other four clusters (See Table 8 for all means and standard deviations). Supporting Hypothesis 5, Games-Howell post hoc tests revealed participants in the Classic Late Age cluster had significantly older chronological age (M = 59.81, SD = 6.15, p < .001) than participants in each of the other four clusters. Post hoc tests also revealed participants in the Classic Middle Age cluster had significantly younger chronological age (M = 41.36, SD = 8.39, p < .001) than participants in the three older chronological age clusters of Late Age Longer FTP, Late Age Shorter FTP, and Classic Late Age, and significantly older chronological age than participants in the Classic Young Age cluster. Post hoc tests revealed participants in the Late Age Longer FTP cluster (M = 51.71, SD = 8.91, p < .001) and the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M = 51.53, SD = 9.56, p < .001) had significantly older chronological age than participants in the Classic Young Age cluster and Classic Middle Age cluster, as well as significantly younger chronological age than participants in the Classic Late Age cluster. See Table 8 for all means and standard deviations.

A second one-way ANOVA suggested there were significant differences in organizational age, F(4, 342) = 101.22, p = <.001 between the age profiles. Levene's test was significant, F(4, 342) = 5.43, p < .001, indicating that equal variances cannot be assumed. Since equal variances cannot be assumed, a Welch (1951) F was conducted. Results indicated significant differences in organizational age between the age profiles, F(4, 138.11) = 156.78, p <



.001. Because unequal variances were found, post-hoc analyses were conducted using the Games-Howell post hoc test.

Supporting Hypothesis 2, Games-Howell post hoc tests revealed participants in the Classic Young Age cluster had significantly lower organizational age (M = 5.24, SD = 4.06) than participants in the Classic Middle Age cluster (M = 9.36, SD = 5.58, p < .001). Supporting Hypothesis 5, post-hoc tests revealed participants in the Classic Young Age cluster had significantly lower organizational age (M = 5.24, SD = 4.06) than participants in the Classic Late Age cluster (M = 26.39, SD = 8.38, p < .001). In addition, participants in the Classic Young Age cluster (M = 8.06, SD = 5.71, p = .002).

Games-Howell post hoc tests revealed participants in the Classic Late Age cluster had significantly higher organizational age (M = 26.39, SD = 8.38, p < .001) than participants in each of the other four clusters (See Table 8 for all means and standard deviations). Post hoc tests also revealed that participants in the Classic Middle Age cluster did not have significant differences in organizational age (M = 9.36, SD = 5.58) relative to participants in the Late Age Longer FTP cluster (M = 8.06, SD = 5.71, p < .62) and Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M = 7.14, SD = 5.03, p = .11). Post hoc tests revealed participants in the Late Age Longer FTP cluster (M = 8.06, SD = 5.71) and Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M = 7.14, SD = 5.03) had significantly younger organizational age than participants in the Classic Late Age cluster (M = 26.39, SD = 8.38). In addition, participants in the Late Age Longer FTP cluster had significantly higher organizational age than participants in the Classic Young Age cluster, p < .001), whereas there was no such difference between the Classic Young Age cluster and Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (p = .09; See Table 8 for all means and standard deviations).



A third one-way ANOVA suggested there were significant differences in number of dependents, F(4, 342) = 136.54, p = <.001 between the age profiles. Levene's test was significant, F(4, 342) = 5.79, p < .001, indicating the equal variances cannot be assumed. Since equal variances cannot be assumed, a Welch (1951) F was conducted. Results indicated significant differences in number of dependents between the age profiles, F(4, 141.83) = 102.52, p < .001. Because unequal variances were found, post-hoc analyses were conducted using the Games-Howell post hoc test.

In support of Hypothesis 2 but not Hypothesis 1, Games-Howell post hoc tests revealed participants in the Classic Middle Age cluster had significantly more dependents (M = 2.79, SD = 0.93, p < .001) than participants in each of the other four clusters. Post hoc tests also revealed participants in the Classic Young Age cluster also had significantly more dependents (M = 0.75, SD = 0.81, p < .001) than the Late Age Longer FTP cluster (M = 0.28, SD = 0.52, p < .001). See Table 8 for all means and standard deviations.

A fourth one-way ANOVA suggested there were significant differences in subjective age, F(4, 342) = 39.40, p = <.001 between the age profiles. Levene's test was not significant, F(4, 342) = 1.89, p = .11, indicating that equal variances existed. Since equal variances existed, Bonferroni post hoc tests controlling for familywise error rate were conducted. In support of Hypothesis 1, post hoc tests revealed participants in Classic Young Age cluster had older subjective age (M = 4.04, SD = 0.71, p < .001) than participants in the Late Age Longer FTP cluster (M = 2.65, SD = 0.75, p < .001) and Classic Late Age cluster (M = 3.03, SD = 0.77, p < .001). However, contrary to Hypothesis 1, there was no significant difference between the Classic Young Age cluster and the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M = 3.87, SD = 1.01, p = .72). Furthermore, contrary to Hypothesis 2, the difference in subjective age between the Classic



Young Age cluster and the Classic Middle Age cluster (M = 3.61, SD = 0.83, p = .01) was not statistically significant when controlling for familywise error, although it was very close to reaching statistical significance. Contrary to Hypotheses 5, there was no significant difference in subjective age between the Classic Middle Age cluster (M = 3.61, SD = 0.83) and the Classic Late Age cluster (M = 3.03, SD = 0.77, p = .006), although it was very close to reaching statistical significance. Supporting Hypothesis 6, post hoc tests revealed participants in the Classic Late Age cluster had significantly more youthful subjective age (M = 3.03, SD = 0.77, p < .001) than participants in the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M = 3.87, SD = 1.01, p < .001). In addition, post hoc tests revealed participants in the Late Age Longer FTP cluster had the most youthful subjective age (M = 2.65, SD = 0.75, p < .001), which was significantly younger than all clusters except the Classic Late Age cluster (M = 3.03, SD = 0.77, p = .14). See Table 8 for all means and standard deviations.

A fifth one-way ANOVA suggested there were significant differences in health, F (4, 342) = 54.30, p = <.001 between the age profiles. Levene's test was significant, F (4, 342) = 3.34, p = .01, indicating that equal variances cannot be assumed. Since equal variances cannot be assumed, a Welch (1951) F was conducted. Results indicated significant differences in health between the age profiles, F (4, 141.96) = 57.47, p < .001. Because unequal variances were found, post-hoc analyses were conducted using the Games-Howell post hoc test.

Contrary to Hypothesis 1, Games-Howell post hoc tests revealed participants in the Classic Young Age cluster (M = 3.69, SD = 0.78) had significantly better health than the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M = 2.26, SD = 0.76, p < .001). However, no significant differences existed between the Classic Young Age cluster and Classic Middle Age cluster (M = 3.28, SD = 0.76, p = .01), Late Age Longer FTP cluster (M = 3.97, SD = 0.69, p = .10), and Classic Late



Age cluster (M = 3.22, SD = 0.93, p = .07). Hypothesis 2 also was not supported, as the difference in health between the Classic Young Age cluster and Classic Middle Age cluster was in the hypothesized direction and approached statistical significance, but was not statistically significant (p = .01). Hypothesis 5 was not supported, as there was no significant difference in health between the Classic Middle Age cluster (M = 3.28, SD = 0.76) and the Classic Late Age; cluster (M = 3.22, SD = 0.93, p = .99). Hypothesis 6 was supported, as the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster had significantly worse health (M = 2.26, SD = 0.76) than all of the other four clusters (p < .001). Post hoc tests revealed participants in the Late Age Longer FTP cluster had the highest levels of self-reported health (M = 3.97, SD = 0.69), with significantly higher health scores than participants in the Classic Middle Age cluster (M = 3.28, SD = 0.76, p < .001, Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M = 2.26, SD = 0.76, p < .001, Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M = 2.26, SD = 0.76, p < .001, Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M = 2.26, SD = 0.76, p < .001, Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M = 2.26, SD = 0.76, p < .001, Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M = 2.26, SD = 0.76, p < .001) and Classic Late Age cluster (M = 3.22, SD = 0.93, p = .001).

A sixth and final one-way ANOVA suggested there were significant differences in FTP, F(4, 342) = 47.24, p = <.001 between the age profiles. Levene's test was not significant, F(4, 342) = .20, p = .94, indicating that equal variances existed. Since equal variances existed, Bonferroni post hoc tests controlling for familywise error rate were conducted. Contrary to Hypothesis 1, post hoc tests revealed participants in the Classic Early Age cluster (M = 5.08, SD = 1.11) had significantly longer FTP than participants in the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M = 2.96, SD = 1.15, p < .001) and Classic Late Age cluster (M = 3.81, SD = 1.27, p < .001), but that no significant differences existed between the Classic Early Age cluster and the Late Age Longer FTP cluster (M = 5.06, SD = 1.18, p = 1.00), nor the Classic Middle Age cluster (M = 4.93, SD = 1.11, p = .96). Hypothesis 2 was not supported, as there were no significant differences in FTP between the Classic Young Age cluster and Classic Middle Age cluster (p = .93). Supporting



Hypothesis 5, participants in the Classic Late Age cluster (M = 3.81, SD = 1.27) had significantly shorter FTP than participants in the Classic Middle Age cluster (M = 4.93, SD =1.11, p < .001). Supporting Hypothesis 6, the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M = 2.96, SD =1.15) had significantly shorter FTP than all four other clusters (p < .001). In addition, post hoc tests revealed participants in the Late Age Longer FTP cluster (M = 5.06, SD = 1.18) had significantly longer FTP compared to participants in the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M =2.96, SD = 1.15, p < .001) and Classic Late Age cluster (M = 3.81, SD = 1.27, p < .001). Table 9 summarizes the major differences between the clusters on the age conceptualizations.

Principal Components Analysis. The next step in the analysis process was to conduct principal components analysis to determine if the twelve workplace motive scale scores loaded onto their hypothesized growth, social, and security motives. It was expected that GNS, development, and need for promotion would load onto a factor named growth motives. It was expected that need for affiliation, helping behavior, prestige, and need for recognition would load onto a factor named social motives. It was also expected compensation, need for autonomy, need for achievement, use of skills, and security would load onto a factor named security motives. Need for affiliation was not included as part of the principal components analysis due to its low reliability ($\alpha = .09$). Therefore, principal components analysis with oblique rotation was conducted on the eleven workplace motive scale scores. The Keyser-Meyer-Olkin measure of sampling adequacy was .85, above the recommended value of .60. Bartlett's' Test of Sphericity was significant (χ^2 (55) = 2027.46, p < .001). The communalities of all eleven scale scores ranged from .49 to .86 (see Table 10). Therefore, it was determined to interpret the principal components analysis output with all eleven items. The principal components analysis revealed three factors with Eigen values greater than 1. The first factor had an Eigen value of 4.86 and



explained 44.2% of the variance. The second factor had an Eigen value of 1.57 and explained 14.3% of the variance. The third factor had an Eigen value of 1.03 and explained 9.4% of the variance. Together, the three factors explained 67.8% of the variance.

As seen in Table 11, GNS, development, need for security, and use of skills loaded onto a first factor. Helping behavior, prestige, need for recognition, need for achievement, and promotion loaded onto the second factor. Compensation and need for autonomy loaded onto the third factor. Given the loadings, Factor 1 most closely resembled the expect growth motives factor. Factor 2 most closely represented the expected social motives factor. Factor 3 most closely represented the expected security motives factor. Seven of the eleven scale scores loaded onto the ir hypothesized factor. Specifically, GNS and development correctly loaded onto the growth motives factor. Helping behavior, prestige, and need for recognition correctly loaded onto the security motives factor. The four motive scores that loaded onto unexpected factors included need for security and use of skills loading onto growth needs as opposed to security needs, and need for promotion and need for achievement loading onto social motives as opposed to growth motives and security motives, respectively.

Although it was expected that promotion would load onto the growth factor, GNS and development did load onto the growth factor. Furthermore, GNS and development account for 2/3 of the studies that have measured growth motives in the relationship between age and workplace motivation (Kooij et al., 2011; See Table 12). The three expected social motives of helping people, prestige, and need for recognition loaded onto the social motives factor. Although need for affiliation is the most typical measure studies have utilized to conceptualize social motives, the three motives that did load onto the social motives factor were the



operationalization of choice for nearly 60% of the studies that have measured social motives in the relationship between age and workplace motivation (Kooij et al., 2011; See Table 12). In addition, Kooij et al. (2011) noted the low reliability of the Steers and Braunstein (1976) need for affiliation measure ($\alpha = .53$). Although it was expected that need for security, need for achievement, and use of skills would load onto the security motives factor, the scale scores for compensation and need for autonomy did load onto the security motives factor. Even though need for achievement is the most typical way security motives are conceptualized, need for autonomy and compensation account for 45% of the studies that that have measured security motives in the relationship between age and workplace motivation (Kooij et al., 2011; See Table 12).

To determine if the seven scale scores that loaded onto their correct workplace motive would load onto three factors, a second principal components analysis with oblique rotation was conducted with the scale scores of GNS, development, helping behavior, need for recognition, prestige, need for autonomy, and compensation. The Keyser-Meyer-Olkin measure of sampling adequacy was .69, above the recommended value of .60. Bartlett's' Test of Sphericity was significant (χ^2 (21) = 899.39, p < .001). The communalities of the seven scale scores ranged from .22 for compensation to .88 for GNS. The principal components analysis revealed two factors with Eigen values greater than 1. The first factor had an Eigen value of 2.92 and explained 41.8% of the variance. The second factor had an Eigen value of 1.25 and explained 17.8% of the variance. Together, the two factors explained 59.6% of the variance. The scale scores of Prestige (.84), need for recognition (.75), helping behavior (.62), need for autonomy (.59), and compensation (.39) that were expected to load onto the social and security motives loaded onto the first factor. GNS (-.86) and development (-.87) loaded onto the second factor.



Even though the factor structure of the three workplace motives wasn't exactly as expected, it is worth noting that Kooij et al.'s (2011) age-work motivation meta-analysis that laid the foundation for which motives scales (e.g., need for autonomy) load to which factor (e.g., need for security) did not utilize psychometric work and factor analysis to develop their taxonomy. Instead, they incorporated SOC theory (P. B. Baltes & Baltes, 1990) and SEST theory (Carstensen, 1992) to develop the taxonomy linking workplace motives to their higher order factor. Therefore, it is not surprising that the original principal components analysis in this study found support for a three-factor solution, but not complete overlap with Kooij et al.'s (2011) taxonomy. Because the seven aforementioned scale scores loaded onto their hypothesized factors, scale scores were created for growth, social, and security motives by aggregating the seven variables accordingly. Specifically, a composite growth motive score was created using by averaging participants' scale scores on GNS and development. A composite social motive scale score was creating by averaging participants' scale scores on helping people, prestige, and need for recognition. A composite security motive scale score was created by averaging participants' scale scores on need for autonomy and compensation.

ANOVAs on Workplace Motives. The next step in the analysis process was to conduct three one-way ANOVAs, with cluster membership as the independent variable and growth, social, and security motives as the dependent variable, respectively. Given that partial support was found for Hypotheses 1, 2, 5, and 6, Hypotheses 8, 11, 13, and 14 (from Table 2) were tested. Given that all seven hypotheses in Table 2 were not supported, and that a cluster not hypothesized (Late Age Long FTP cluster from Table 8) emerged, I conducted post hoc analyses with the Bonferroni correction as opposed to planned comparisons, with the significance level at p < .005 to control for family wise error rate.



A one-way ANOVA suggested there were significant differences in growth motives, F(4, 341) = 4.96, p = .001, $\eta^2 = .055$, between the age profiles. Levene's test was not significant, F (4, 341) = 1.18, p = .32, indicating that equal variances existed. Since equal variances existed, Bonferroni post hoc tests controlling for familywise error rate were conducted. Contrary to Hypothesis 14, there was no significant difference in growth motives between the Classic Middle Age cluster (M = 5.69, SD = 0.95) and Classic Late Age cluster (M = 5.71., SD = 0.90, p = .99). However, post hoc tests revealed participants in the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster had significantly lower growth motives (M = 5.14, SD = 1.12) than participants in the Late Age Longer FTP cluster (M = 5.81, SD = 0.95, p < .001). In addition, participants in the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster had lower levels of growth motives than participants in the Classic Young Age cluster (M = 5.63, SD = 0.98, p = .02), Classic Middle Age cluster (M = 5.69, SD = 0.95, p= .01), and Classic Late Age cluster (M = 5.71, SD = 0.90, p = .04), although the results did not quite meet the significance value cutoff at p < .005. See Table 13 for all descriptive statistics and ANOVA results. In addition, see Table 14 for an overall summary of differences in the clusters on workplace motives.

A one-way ANOVA suggested there were significant differences in social motives, F(4, 342) = 7.47, p = <.001, $\eta 2 = .080$, between the age profiles. Levene's test was not significant, F(4, 342) = 0.34, p = .85, indicating that equal variances existed. Contrary to Hypothesis 11, post hoc tests with the Boneferroni correction revealed no significant difference in social motives between the Classic Late Age cluster (M = 4.08, SD = 0.84) and Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M = 3.96, SD = 0.92, p = .98) or Classic Middle Age cluster (M = 4.48, SD = .04, p = .27). Furthermore, post-hoc analyses revealed participants in the Classic Young Age cluster had significantly higher social motives (M = 4.66, SD = 1.02) than participants in the Late Age



Longer FTP cluster (M = 4.06, SD = 0.96, p = .001) and Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M = 3.96, SD = 0.92, p < .001). Contrary to Hypothesis 14, a one-way ANOVA suggested there were no significant differences in security motives, F(4, 341) = 0.06, p = .99, $\eta 2 = .000$, between the age profiles. See Table 13 for all descriptive statistics and ANOVA results. In addition, see Table 14 for an overall summary of differences in the clusters on workplace motives.

Hypothesis 13 was that clusters with similar levels of FTP will have no difference in social motives, regardless of chronological age, in line with SEST. Since there were no significant differences between the Classic Young Age cluster, Classic Middle Age cluster, and Late Age Longer FTP Profile, Hypothesis 13 was tested with Clusters 1-3. Supporting Hypothesis 13 and SEST, results suggested there was no significant difference in social motives between the Late Age Longer FTP cluster (M = 4.06, SD = 0.96) and the Classic Middle Age cluster (M = 4.48, SD = 1.04, p = .06), nor between the Classic Young Age cluster (M = 4.66, SD = 1.02) and Classic Middle Age cluster (M = 4.48, SD = 1.04, p = .06), nor between the Classic Young Age cluster (M = 4.66, SD = 1.02) and Classic Middle Age cluster (M = 4.48, SD = 1.04, p = .78). However, there was a significant difference between the Late Age Longer FTP cluster (M = 4.66, SD = 1.02) in social motives, with the Classic Young Age cluster (M = 4.66, SD = 1.02) in social motives, with the Classic Young Age cluster displaying significantly higher social motives than participants in the Late Age Longer FTP cluster, p = .001. Therefore, Hypothesis 13 was partially supported.

To ensure that important differences between the age profiles on the workplace motives (i.e., promotion, need for achievement, use of skills, security) that didn't load onto their expected higher order factor, four one-way ANOVAs with age profile as the independent variable and each of the aforementioned motives as the dependent variable were conducted. A one-way ANOVA suggested there were significant differences in promotion, F (4, 341) = 11.99, p = <.001, $\eta 2$ = .123, between the age profiles. Levene's test was not significant, F (4, 341) = 0.53,



p = .72, indicating that equal variances existed. Post hoc analyses revealed participants in the Classic Young Age cluster (M = 4.98, SD = 1.01) and Classic Middle Age cluster (M = 4.72, SD = 1.27) had significantly higher promotion motives than participants in the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M = 3.80, SD = 1.27, p < .001). Participants in the Classic Young Age cluster also had higher promotion motives than those in the Classic Late Age cluster (M = 4.09, SD = 1.06, p = .001).

A one-way ANOVA suggested there were significant differences in need for achievement, F(4, 341) = 8.24, p = <.001, $\eta 2 = .081$, between the age profiles. Levene's test was not significant, F(4, 341) = 1.43, p = .22, indicating that equal variances existed. Post hoc analyses revealed participants in the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster had significantly lower need for achievement (M = 4.31, SD = 1.06) than those in the Classic Young Age cluster (M = 5.05, SD = 0.94), Classic Middle Age Cluster (M = 5.15, SD = 1.11), and Late Age Longer FTP Cluster (M = 5.07, SD = 0.98), p < .001.

A one-way ANOVA suggested there were significant differences in need for achievement, F(4, 341) = 8.24, p = <.001, $\eta 2 = .081$, between the age profiles. Levene's test was not significant, F(4, 341) = 1.43, p = .22, indicating that equal variances existed. Post hoc analyses revealed participants in the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster had significantly lower need for achievement (M = 4.31, SD = 1.06) than those in the Classic Young Age cluster (M = 5.05, SD = 0.94), Classic Middle Age Cluster (M = 5.15, SD = 1.11), and Late Age Longer FTP Cluster (M = 5.07, SD = 0.98), p < .001.

Two separate one-way ANOVAs suggested there were not significant differences in use of skills, F(4, 341) = 2.04, p = .09, $\eta 2 = .023$ or need for security, F(4, 342) = .67, p = .62, $\eta 2 = .007$ between the age profiles.



Ad Hoc Tests. As explained in the introduction, there were four main types of ad hoc tests addressed. First, I examined the extent to which participants' subjective age discrepancy score could help explain differences between the different age conceptualization profiles. Second, I examined the extent to which scores on the ACCI, which allow individuals to recycle back to earlier career stages, could add utility to the understanding of the age profiles. Third, I examined the extent to which there were differences between the clusters on the two FTP dimensions of focus on opportunities and focus on limitations. Fourth, I examined whether significant differences existed on the life stage variables (e.g., marital status) between the different age profiles.

In regards to the subjective age discrepancy score, a one-way ANOVA suggested there were significant differences in subjective age discrepancy score, F(4, 342) = 34.48, p = <.001 between the age profiles. Levene's test was significant, F(4, 342) = 7.06, p < .001, indicating that equal variances cannot be assumed. Since equal variances cannot be assumed, a Welch (1951) F was conducted. Results indicated significant differences in subjective age discrepancy score between the age profiles, F(4, 134.24) = 51.94, p < .001. Because unequal variances were found, post-hoc analyses were conducted using the Games-Howell post hoc test.

Games-Howell post hoc tests revealed participants in the Late Age Longer FTP cluster (M = -10.80, SD = 6.43) had significantly more youthful subjective age discrepancy scores than participants in the Classic Young Age cluster (M = -3.67, SD = 7.79, p < .001), Classic Middle Age cluster (M = -3.79, SD = 7.80, p < .001), and Classic Young Age cluster (M = 0.21, SD =3.85, p < .001). Post hoc analyses revealed participants in the Classic Young Age cluster (M =0.21, SD = 3.85) had significantly less youthful subjective age discrepancy scores relative to all other clusters (p < .001). See Table 15 for all descriptive statistics and ANOVA results. See



Table 16 for an overall summary of the differences in subjective age discrepancy scores between the clusters.

In regards to ACCI scores, each participant was categorized as belonging to the Exploration, Establishment, Maintenance, or Disengagement career stage, based upon which of their four composites had the highest score. Four composite variables were formed for each of the scales. Reliabilities were all four scales were above .80, ranging from $\alpha = .81$ for disengagement to .90 for exploration. Results indicated that 85 participants had a same score for two or more scales, 35 were in the exploration stage, 25 were in the establishment stage, 25 were in the maintenance stage, and 178 were in the disengagement stage. Removing the 85 participants with the same score for two or more scales from the denominator, 13% of participants were in the exploration stage, 10% of participants were in the establishment stage, 10% of participants were in the disengagement stage. Given 40% of the study sample was over the age of 50 years, this finding is not at all surprising. Because such a high number of participants were in the disengagement stage, no further analyses were conducted with the ACCI scores.

The third ad hoc analysis examined the extent to which there were differences between the clusters on the two FTP dimensions of focus on opportunities and focus on limitations. A principal components analysis with oblique rotation on the ten FTP items was conducted. The Keyser-Meyer-Olkin measure of sampling adequacy was .92, above the recommended value of .60. Bartlett's' Test of Sphericity was significant (χ^2 (45) = 3092.31, p < .001). The communalities of all ten FTP items ranged from .69 to .87. Therefore, it was determined to interpret the principal components analysis output with all ten FTP items. The principal components analysis revealed two factors with Eigen values greater than 1, explaining 64% and



15% of the variance, respectively. The two factors explained 78.4% of the variance. FTP items 1-7 (see Appendix G) all loaded onto the first factor with loadings above .70. This first factor, in line with previous research (e.g., Cate & John, 2007), is called Focus on Opportunities. The reverse-coded items 8-10 (see Appendix G) loaded onto the second factor with loadings above .75. This second factor, in line with previous research (e.g., Cate & John, 2007), is called Focus on Limitations. Composite scores were created for these two FTP scales.

A one-way ANOVA suggested there were significant differences in focus on opportunities, F(4, 342) = 48.29, p = <.001 between the age profiles. Levene's test was not significant, F(4, 342) = .50, p = .74, indicating that equal variances existed. Since equal variances existed, Tukey HSD post hoc tests controlling for familywise error rate were conducted. The results mirrored that of the one-way ANOVA on overall FTP described earlier. Tukey's HSD post hoc tests revealed participants in the Classic Young Age cluster (M = 5.45, SD = 1.22), Classic Middle Age (M = 5.20, SD = 1.19), and older chronological age profile of Cluster 1 (Late Age Longer FTP; M = 5.31, SD = 1.26) had significantly higher Focus on Opportunities FTP than participants in the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M = 3.03, SD = 1.36, p < .001) and Classic Late Age cluster (M = 3.91, SD = 1.45, p < .001). See Table 15 for all descriptive statistics and ANOVA results.

A one-way ANOVA suggested there were significant differences in focus on limitations, F(4, 342) = 15.44, p = <.001 between the age profiles. Levene's test was significant, F(4, 342) = .2.71, p = .03, indicating that equal variances cannot be assumed. Since equal variances cannot be assumed, a Welch (1951) F was conducted. Results indicated significant differences in focus on limitations between the age profiles, F(4, 145.27) = 20.01, p < .001. Because unequal variances were found, post-hoc analyses were conducted using the Games-Howell post hoc test.



Games-Howell post hoc tests revealed participants in the Late Age Longer FTP cluster (M = 4.47, SD = 1.52), Classic Young Age cluster (M = 4.22, SD = 1.61) and Classic Middle Age cluster (M = 4.31, SD = 1.57) had significantly lower levels of focus on limitations than participants in the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster (M = 2.80, SD = 1.18, p < .001). See Table 15 for all descriptive statistics and ANOVA results. See Table 15 for all descriptive statistics and ANOVA results. See Table 16 for an overall summary of the differences in focus on opportunities and focus on limitations between the clusters.

The fourth ad hoc analysis examined whether significant differences existed on the life stage variables (e.g., marital status) between the different age profiles and workplace motivation. Three one-way ANOVAs found no significant differences in growth motives, F(4, 342) = 1.29, p = .27, social motives, F(4, 343) = 0.31, p = .87, or security motives F(4, 342) = 1.36, p = .25, based upon marital status. To determine the impact of caring for dependents and other family members on workplace motivation, the number of dependents a participant cared for and number of other family members (e.g., spouse, parent) a participant cared for were summed to form an overall number of individuals the participant was responsible for providing for. Next, I examined correlations between the three motives and the overall number of individuals cared for and social motives (r = .18, p = .001), but no relationship between the number of individuals cared for and social motives (r = .06, p = .25) or security motives (r = .02, p = .71).



CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

The purpose of this dissertation was to bridge gaps in the literature by assessing each of the conceptualizations of age described by Kooij et al. (2008, 2011), identify age profiles or clusters with all age conceptualizations, and link those profiles to motivation. Contrary to hypotheses (see Table 1), hierarchical cluster analysis revealed a five-cluster solution as opposed to seven-cluster solution. However, of the five clusters found (see Table 8), four of the five clusters corresponded to the hypothesized clusters in Table 1, including the Classic Young Age Profile (Cluster 1 in Table 1; Cluster 2 in Table 8), Classic Middle Age Profile (Cluster 5 in Table 1; Cluster 5 in Table 8), and Late Age Shorter FTP Profile (Cluster 6 in Table 1; Cluster 4 in Table 8). Therefore, no support was found for Hypotheses 3, 4, and 7, and I tested to see if significant differences were found between the profiles in age conceptualizations for Hypotheses 1, 2, 5, and 6.

Generally, no support was found for Hypothesis 1. Although participants in the Classic Young Age cluster had the youngest chronological age of any cluster, this profile did not have the greatest health, lowest number of dependents, longest FTP, and least youthful subjective age of any cluster, as hypothesized. Hypothesis 2 was partially supported. Participants in the Classic Middle Age cluster had significantly higher chronological age, organizational age, and more dependents than the Classic Young Age cluster. Although the difference in subjective age between the profiles was not significant (p < .01) at the p < .005 level, it approached significance. There was no difference between the two profiles in FTP. Hypothesis 5 was also partially supported. Participants in the Classic Late Age profile had significantly greater chronological age, organizational age, and shorter FTP relative to the Classic Middle Age cluster, although the difference in health was not significant. Although the difference in



subjective age approached significance (p = .006), the finding was not significant when controlling for familywise error rate (p < .005). Hypothesis 6 was completely supported, as participants in the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster had less youthful subjective age than the Classic Late Age cluster, and the worst physical health and shortest FTP of any cluster.

Next, I tested Hypotheses 11, 13, and 14. Hypothesis 8 was not tested because no support was found for Hypothesis 1. Hypotheses 9, 10, and 12 were not supported or tested because the Hypothesized Clusters 3, 4, and 7 (see Table 1) were not supported by the cluster analysis. Contrary to Hypotheses 11, there was no significant difference in social motives between the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster and Classic Late Age cluster. Hypothesis 14, that the Classic Late Age cluster would have significantly lower growth and social motives, but higher security motives than the Classic Young Age cluster and Classic Middle Age cluster was also not supported. Hypothesis 13, that regardless of age, clusters with similar levels of FTP would have no differences in FTP was partially supported, as there was a significant difference between the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster and Classic Young Age cluster in social motives.

Furthermore, post hoc analyses revealed interesting differences between the age profiles in endorsement of growth and social motives. Specifically, The Late Age Longer FTP cluster endorsed higher levels of growth motives than the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster. This finding is actually supported by SOC theory, which posits that individuals utilize SOC strategies to minimize age-related decreases in resources and maximize age-related gains. Even though the two aforementioned clusters have similar levels of chronological age, they have significant differences in health, subjective age, and FTP. Since the Late Age Longer FTP cluster views their future as long, results suggest participants in this cluster are more interested on achieving goals that maximize their gains, whereas participants in the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster do not


have the same resources to put towards growth motives, as their resources may be strained to other areas of their lives, due to poorer health and FTP. This finding also supports SEST, which predicts individuals with longer FTP will focus on fulfilling knowledge-related goals and motives like growth motives, regardless of age.

The finding that there are differences in growth motives between clusters with similar chronological ages illustrates the power of using the person-centered approach as opposed to variable-centered approach, and has large implications for organizations. Indeed, this finding suggests employees' health, subjective age, and FTP plays an important role in one's motivation at older chronological ages. With a full understanding of the legal issues and challenges, organizations should examine ways to incorporate FTP and subjective age into discussions of succession planning and career development initiatives. A research stream that can help enable the aforementioned application to organizational HR activities (e.g., succession planning) is to examine the effectiveness of organizational interventions (e.g., team building, technostructual, flextime) based upon age conceptualizations and workplace motives. Results from this study suggest that employees at older chronological ages with longer FTP and great health would be significantly more interested in technostructural interventions like job enlargement and job enrichment (see Zabel & Baltes, 2015 for a review) relative to employees at older chronological ages with shorter FTP and poorer health. Furthermore, since the Late Age Longer FTP cluster endorsed higher growth motives than the Late Age Shorter FTP cluster, but no significant difference existed in security motives, results suggest employees with later chronological age, poorer health, and shorter FTP (i.e., Late Age Shorter FTP cluster) may be more likely to retire at an earlier age relative to their counterparts in Cluster 1. These are important areas for future



research. If that hypothesis was supported, it would have large impacts on succession planning, training and learning, and career development initiatives within organizations.

Post hoc tests also found that the Classic Young Age cluster had significantly higher social motives than the Late Age Longer FTP cluster and Late Age Shorter FTP cluster. Given the Late Age Longer FTP cluster and Late Age Shorter FTP cluster have similar chronological ages but very different FTP, subjective age, and health, the pattern of results suggests a main effect of chronological age on social motives, such that as individuals age chronologically, they endorse lower level of social motives, regardless of other conceptualizations of age. Interestingly, there was very little difference between the Classic Young Age cluster and Classic Middle Age in social motives, suggesting the decrease in social motives tends to happen as individuals move from middle to late chronological age.

Practical Implications and Future Research

There are several practical implications for both applied practitioners and academic researchers alike. Findings from this study suggest that the importance of examining multiple conceptualizations of age simultaneously increases with chronological age. Indeed, supporting SOC and SEST, results from this study suggest at later chronological ages, employees with more positive health, youthful subjective age, and longer FTP have significantly higher growth motives than older workers with less positive health, less youthful subjective age, and shorter FTP. Contrary to stereotypes about older workers, results from this study suggest older workers are motivated to fulfill growth motives if they have the resources available to focus on growth motives, which may be largely impacted by one's perception of health. This means that organizations should consider the effectiveness of utilizing workplace interventions that fulfill growth motives like job enlargement or job enrichment (see Zabel & Baltes, 2015 for a review)



strategically for older workers who may be most motivated to fulfill growth managements. The reality is that the variables that are most important to determining those older workers who may be most motivated to fulfill growth motives may be difficult for organizations to obtain. While most organizations have some type of health-related data on their employees, it is often hard to get access to that data, and subjective age and FTP would typically not be variables organizations have access to. These limitations withstanding, results suggest innovative Human Resource organizations should find ways to incorporate findings from this study into their overall talent management strategy, especially since the numbers of older workers will only increase for decades to come. Similarly, researchers should examine the extent to which workplace interventions that may be more likely than others to fulfill growth motives (e.g., job enlargement, job enrichment) are in fact preferred by older workers fitting the Later Age Longer FTP profile, and the effectiveness of these types of interventions with this profile relative to their effectiveness with the other four clusters.

Findings from this study also suggest that employees with low chronological ages have higher social motives than employees at high chronological ages, regardless of other conceptualizations of age. Indeed, the three late age profiles had similar levels of social motives, suggesting that the decrease in social motives seen across the lifespan is mainly a function of chronological age and not the profiles that emerged based upon all conceptualizations of age. These findings suggest that workplace interventions that fulfill social motives like team building are more applicable to younger workers relative to older workers. Future research should examine if this is the case, as well as if the effectiveness of team building interventions changes based upon the chronological age distribution of team members (e.g., heterogeneous vs. homogenous). The latter point is especially important, given that older workers and younger



workers will continue to collaborate more and more on work teams for decades to come. These results are also practical to organizations. Indeed, there may be simple things organizations can do to fulfill the social motives of younger workers, ranging from setting up employee resource groups specifically for younger workers, setting up monthly happy hours younger workers can go to in order to network, and career development programs where social interaction is required (e.g., mentoring sponsorship) specifically for younger workers. Future research should also examine the impact of different generations or cohorts on the development of clusters, and the relationship of those clusters to workplace motives. With such an emphasis on generational differences research in the academic literature and popular press, an understanding of the types of clusters that form based on the age conceptualizations for the major generational cohorts (e.g., Baby Boomers, Generation X, and Millennials), and the relationships of those clusters to workplace motivation, would help academic researchers and applied practitioners alike understand if it is beneficial to examine age conceptualizations with the added lens of generational cohorts.

Limitations

One limitation of this design is that it is cross-sectional as opposed to longitudinal in nature. Although certain age conceptualizations like chronological age and number of dependents change rather slowly over long periods of time, other age conceptualizations like health and FTP change more often over time. Longitudinal studies would be especially adept at measuring these differences over time. Another limitation was measuring growth, social, and security motives, most notably security motives. Although the original principal components analysis suggested a three-factor solution, examination of the rotated matrix suggested four scale scores were loading onto the wrong factor. A second principal components analysis with only the



seven scale scores suggested only a two-factor solution. Because I was interested in creating composites for growth, social, and security motives and the original principal components analysis recommended a three-factor solution, I created three composite variables with the seven scale scores. This process entailed removing need for achievement and need of promotion from forming composites, even though these are two variables that are often used in the study of age and work motives. As I explained earlier, the variables I formed composites with do account for approximately 50% of the studies that examine the relationship between age and work motivation (Kooij et al., 2011). Furthermore, Kooij et al. (2011) did not utilize principal components analysis when forming their taxonomy of growth, social, and security motives. Therefore, creating a taxonomy of growth, social, and security motives, or a different factor solution with a different number of factors, and validating the findings is another area for future research.

A third limitation was the use of only a one-item health scale to measure functional age, as opposed to objective indicators of health or other variables used to measure functional age. Defined in the literature as "based on a worker's performance, and recognizes that there is a great variation in individual abilities and functioning through various biological and psychological changes (Kooij et al., 2008, p. 366), functional ages is typically measured using variables like health, cognitive abilities, and job performance. Future studies should examine the extent to which more objective indicators of health like blood pressure or body mass index can be used in conjunction with the subjective measure of health utilized in this study, to ensure one's full spectrum of health is being properly measured. Furthermore, future studies should examine how other measures of functional age like cognitive ability and job performance relate with other conceptualizations of age to impact workplace motives. This is especially relevant



since changes in job performance and cognitive ability map on well to the SOC framework that was used to develop hypotheses in the current study. A final limitation was that over half the study sample did not have dependent children living with them, and that a similar lack of variance existed on the number of participants who were responsible for caring for other adults that were not dependents (e.g., eldercare). This lack of variance in life-span age conceptualizations made it difficult to find any differentiation between the clusters in terms of the life-span conceptualizations, and may be one reason why only one middle age cluster was found as opposed to the hypothesized three. Future studies should oversample individuals at both older middle and chronological ages (similar to this study), but also oversample individuals having dependent children living with them to ensure the ability to find age conceptualization profiles that are impacted by number of dependents, and age of youngest child, assuming those profiles. Given this study found only one cluster with high organizational age, future studies should also try to achieve a more even distribution of organizational age, and consider how industry tenure may be used strategically in the analysis process to compare and contrast the contribution of industry tenure relative to job tenure and organizational tenure.

Final Conclusions

This dissertation addresses several limitations of the previous literature. First, this is the only known study to examine all conceptualizations of age recommended by Kooij et al. (2008, 2011) simultaneously in the same study. Second, this is the first known study to examine how all conceptualizations of age are related to three major types of workplace motivation, including growth, social and security motives. Third, this study uses a person-centered approach as opposed to variable-centered approach to examine, holistically, how individuals are differently motivated at work based upon their age profile. This first study that examined the link between



all age conceptualizations and workplace motivation will enrich the literature in both the study of aging at work and workplace motivation area, and answers several calls to research all conceptualizations of age.



				Cluster			
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Name	Classic Young Age	Classic Middle Age	Recycled Career Middle Age	No Dependents Middle Age	Classic Late Age	Late Age Shorter FTP	Late Age with Dependents
Profile	Low chronological and organizational age, older/same subjective age, great physical health, low number dependents, longest FTP	Medium chronological age and organizational age, younger subjective age, good physical health, average of two dependents, and average FTP.	Medium chronological age, low organization age, younger subjective age, good physical health, average of two dependents, and average FTP.	Medium chronological age and organizational age, younger subjective age, good physical health, no dependents, and average FTP.	High chronological age and organizational age, much younger subjective age, average physical health, zero dependents and shorter FTP.	High chronological age and organizational age, younger subjective age, below average physical health, zero dependents and shortest FTP.	High chronological age and organizational age, much younger subjective age, average physical health, at least 1 dependent and average FTP.
Description	This group will have the youngest chronological age of any cluster. In addition, this group will report the greatest physical health, lowest number of dependents, longest FTP, and oldest subjective age of any cluster.	This group will have higher chronological and organizational age, worse physical health, more dependents, shorter FTP, and more youthful subjective age than Cluster 1.	This group will have significantly lower organizational age than Cluster 2. Their organizational age will more closely resemble Cluster 1 than Cluster 2.	This group will have significantly fewer dependents than Cluster 2. Their average number of dependents will more closely resemble Cluster 1 than Cluster 2.	This group will have higher chronological and organizational age, worse physical health, shorter FTP, and more youthful subjective age than Cluster 2.	This group will have the worst physical health and most Shorter FTP of any cluster. In addition, this group will have less youthful subjective age than Cluster 5.	This group will have a higher number of dependents than Clusters 5 or 6.

Table 1: Descriptions of Hypothesized Age Conceptualization Clusters

المنسارات

Motive	Hypothesis 8	Hypothesis 9	Hypothesis 10	Hypothesis 11	Hypothesis 12	Hypothesis 13	Hypothesis 14
Growth	Highest for Cluster 1	Cluster 3 is higher than Cluster 2	Cluster 4 is higher than Clusters 2 and 3		Cluster 7 is higher than Clusters 5 and 6		Lower for Cluster 5 relative to Clusters 1 and 2
Social	Highest for Cluster 1	Cluster 3 is higher than Cluster 2		Cluster 6 is lower than Cluster 5.		Clusters with similar levels of FTP will have no difference.	Lower for Cluster 5 relative to Clusters 1 and 2
Security	Lowest for Cluster 1		Cluster 4 is lower than Clusters 2 and 3		Cluster 7 is higher than Clusters 5 and 6		Higher for Cluster 5 relative to Cluster 1 and 2

Table 2: Hypothesized Relationships of Clusters to Growth, Social, and Security Motives



Age Range	% of U.S. Workforce
16-19	3.1%
20-24	9.5%
25-29	10.8%
30-34	11.0%
35-39	10.4%
40-44	10.8%
45-49	10.9%
50-54	11.4%
55-59	9.9%
60-64	6.8%
65-69	3.1%
70-74	1.3%
75+	1.0%

 Table 3: Chronological Age Distribution of the U.S. Workforce



Age Range	% of Study Sample
16-19	0.0%
20-24	2.0%
25-29	8.1%
30-34	12.3%
35-39	12.1%
40-44	14.4%
45-49	9.1%
50-54	12.4%
55-59	14.9%
60-64	10.1%
65-69	4.0%
70-74	0.6%
75+	0.0%

 Table 4: Chronological Age Distribution of the Study Sample



Variable	Range	α	Μ	SD
Chronological Age	21-71		45.70	12.20
Subjective Age	1-7	.71	3.46	0.99
Subjective Age Discrepancy	^a (48.5) – 16.75	.89	-5.11	7.93
Organizational Age	0-58	.89	9.31	8.12
Future Time Perspective	1-7	.93	4.50	1.43
Health	1-5		3.34	0.97
Number of Dependents	0-7		0.91	1.19
Need for Affiliation	1-7	.09	4.07	0.70
Need for Autonomy	1-7	.65	4.06	1.07
Need for Achievement	1-7	.73	4.91	1.03
Need for Security	1-7	.87	5.73	0.86
Need for Recognition	1-7	.66	4.20	1.41
Helping Behavior	1-7	.85	4.23	1.05
Prestige	1-7	.92	4.37	1.22
Need for Promotion	1-7	.91	4.45	1.22
Use of Skills	1-7	.86	5.77	1.07
Growth Need Strength	1-7	.89	5.59	1.03
Development	1-7	.88	5.61	1.06
Compensation	1-7		5.90	1.18

Table 5: Means and Standard Deviations of Study Variables

Note: ^a Composite Subjective Age – Chronological Age



Table 6: Correlations Between Study Variables

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
1. Chronological Age													
2. Subjective Age	29***												
3. Subjective Age Discrepancy ^a	47***	.81***											
4. Organizational Age	.43***	08	18**										
5. Future Time Perspective	33***	16**	08	10									
6. Health	13*	29***	18**	03	.44***								
7. Number of Dependents	27***	.12*	.08	03	.16**	.03							
8. Need for Affiliation	05	02	03	.00	.09	.12*	.08						
9. Need for Autonomy	03	08	- .11 [*]	.01	05	.00	.01	38***	: 				
10. Need for Achievement	08	14**	09	.06	.35***	.28***	.14*	.05	.24**				
11. Need for Security	.00	01	02	.01	.15**	.09	.09	.05	.03	.43***			
12. Need for Recognition	26***	.06	.13*	07	.19***	.15**	.13*	.09	.13*	.38***	.28***		
13. Helping Behavior	13*	.09	.06	.01	.13*	.09	.08	.35***	.05	.23***	.20***	.43***	

Note: ^a Composite Subjective Age – Chronological Age p < .05, ^{**} p < .01, ^{****} p < .001



	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
14. Prestige	23***	.09	.08	05	.23***	.20***	.16**	.04	.26***	.63***	.34***	.61***	.45***
15. Need for Promotion	38***	02	.07	07	.42***	.25***	.13*	.02	.20***	.62***	.36***	.59***	.35***
16. Use of Skills	.05	03	05	.07	.25***	.16**	.08	.05	02	.43***	.54***	.25***	.20***
17. Growth Need Strength	03	10	08	.05	.35***	.23***	.05	.09	.01	.52***	.55***	.37***	.27***
18. Development	03	14*	12*	.05	.38***	.22***	.04	.10	01	.49***	.50***	.36***	.27***
19. Compensation	.01	.00	01	.03	.07	.11	.07	01	.10	.20***	.47***	.27***	.14**

Note: ${}^{*}p < .05$, ${}^{**}p < .01$, ${}^{***}p < .001$

14 15 16 17 18 19



Note: p < .05, p < .01, p < .00



Stage	Cluster 1	Cluster 2	Coefficients	Cluster 1	Cluster 2	Next Stage
1	360	383	.013	0	0	48
2	48	157	.040	0	0	15
3	121	400	.074	0	0	39
4	90	271	.119	0	0	163
5	145	391	.172	0	0	134
6	97	237	.225	0	0	11
7	232	354	.289	0	0	150
8	290	367	.356	0	0	28
9	158	222	.426	0	0	52
10	42	395	.503	0	0	95
•••••						
•••••						
•••••						
337	25	37	903.617	333	331	342
338	35	84	947.212	330	328	344
339	34	48	993.362	329	314	341
340	24	29	1044.586	334	336	345
341	26	34	1125.760	327	339	343
342	22	25	1224.618	335	337	344
343	26	30	1357.593	341	332	345
344	22	35	1540.342	342	338	346
345	24	26	1734.901	340	343	346
346	22	24	2074.823	344	345	0

Table 7: Agglomeration Schedule for Hierarchical Cluster Analysis

Cluster	1	2	3	4	5	
	Late Age	Classic Young	Classic Middle	Late Age	Classic Late	ANOVA Statistics
	Longer FTP	Age	Age	Shorter FTP	Age	
Age Concept	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M(SD)	F
Chronological	51.7 (8.9) ^{2,3,5}	$32.5(6.4)^{1,3,4,5}$	41.4 (8.4) ^{1,2,4,5}	51.5 (9.6) ^{2,3,5}	59.8 (6.1) ^{1,2,3,4}	$F_{(4, 342)} = 109.98$
Age						$\eta^2 = .562$
Subjective Age	$2.7 (0.8)^{2,3,4}$	$4.0(0.7)^{1.5}$	$3.6(0.8)^{-1}$	$3.9(1.0)^{1.5}$	3.0 (0.8) ^{2,4}	$F_{(4, 342)} = 39.40$
						$\eta^2 = .315$
Organizational	8.1 (5.7) ^{2,5}	5.2 (4.1) ^{1,3,5}	9.4 (5.6) ^{2,5}	7.1 (5.0) ⁵	26.4 (8.4) ^{1,2,3,4}	$F_{(4, 342)} = 101.22$
Age						$\eta^2 = .542$
Health	$4.0(0.7)^{3,4,5}$	3.7 (0.8) 4	3.3 (0.8) ^{1,4}	$2.3 (0.8)^{1,2,3,5}$	3.2 (0.9) ^{1,4}	$F_{(4, 342)} = 54.30$
						$\eta^2 = .388$
Future Time	5.1 (1.2) ^{4,5}	5.1 (1.1) ^{4,5}	4.9 (1.1) ^{4,5}	$3.0(1.2)^{1,2,3,5}$	3.8 (1.3) ^{1,2,3,4}	$F_{(4, 342)} = 47.24$
Perspective						$\eta^2 = .355$
Number of	$0.3 (0.5)^{2,3}$	$0.8 (0.8)^{-1.3}$	$2.8(0.9)^{1,2,4,5}$	$0.4(0.7)^{3}$	$0.4 (0.7)^3$	$F_{(4, 342)} = 136.54$
Dependents						$\eta^2 = .614$
Ν	87	87	67	70	36	347
% of Total N	25.1%	25.1%	19.3%	20.2%	10.4%	100%
Chronological	30-68	21-49	26-71	25-68	44-70	
Age Range						

Table 8: ANOVA Results Indicating Differences Between Clusters on Age Conceptualizations

Note. Games-Howell post hoc tests were utilized for chronological age, organizational age, health and number of dependents. Superscripts indicate means in a given row are statistically different from the cluster identified by the subscript at the p < .005 level.

	Late Age Longer FTP (1)	Classic Young Age (2)	Classic Middle Age (3)	Late Age Shorter FTP (4)	Classic Late Age (5)
Chronological Age		Lowest of any cluster	Lower than Clusters 1 and 4		Highest of any cluster
Subjective Age	More youthful than Cluster 2, 3, and 4				More youthful than Clusters 2 and 4
Organizational Age		Lower than 1 and 3			Highest of any cluster
Health	Better than 3 and 5			Poorest of any cluster	
Future Time Perspective				Shortest of any cluster	Shorter than Cluster 1, 2, and 3
Number of Dependents		Higher than Cluster 1	Highest of any cluster		

 Table 9: Summary of ANOVA Results Indicating Differences Between Clusters on Age Conceptualizations



Table 10: Communalities

Scale	Communalities
GNS	.864
Development	.806
Prestige	.778
Use of Skills	.771
Need for Promotion	.716
Need for Security	.637
Need for Recognition	.626
Need for Autonomy	.623
Need for Achievement	.582
Compensation	.560
Helping Behavior	.494



Scale	Factor 1	Factor 2	Factor 3
GNS	854		
Development	801		
Use of Skills	885		
Need for Security	726		
Prestige		.813	
Helping Behavior		.717	
Need for Recognition		.774	
Need for Promotion		.718	
Need for Achievement	327	.507	
Need for Autonomy			.746
Compensation	454		.571

Table 11: Factor Loadings of Principal Components Analysis with Oblique Rotation



Content of Work-Related	Motive	<i>n</i> (number of studies)	
Motive			
	Development/Challenge ^a	26	
Growth	Growth Need Strength ^a		
	Promotion/Advancement	13	
	Need for Affiliation/Working	25	
	with People ^b	25	
Social	Helping people	15	
	Prestige/Status	12	
	Recognition	9	
	Need for Achievement	41	
	Need for Autonomy	34	
Security	Compensation/Benefits	24	
	Need for Security	17	
	Use of Skills	14	

Table 12: Kooij et al. (2011) Age-Workplace Motives Conceptualization of Motives



85

Cluster	1	2	3	4	5	
	Late Age Longer FTP	Classic Young Age	Classic Middle Age	Late Age Shorter FTP	Classic Late Age	ANOVA Statistics
Age Concept	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	F
Growth Motives	5.81 (0.95) ⁴	5.63 (0.98)	5.69 (0.95)	5.14 (1.12) ¹	5.71 (0.90)	$F_{(4, 341)} = 4.96$ $\eta^2 = .055$
Social Motives	4.06 (0.96) ²	4.66 (1.02) ^{1,4,}	4.48 (1.04)	$3.96(0.92)^2$	4.08 (0.84)	$F_{(4, 342)} = 7.47$ $\eta^2 = .080$
Security Motives	5.01 (0.80)	4.99 (0.92)	4.97 (0.86)	4.97 (0.73)	4.93 (0.91)	$F_{(4, 341)} = 0.06$ $\eta^2 = .000$
N	87	87	67	70	36	347
% of Total N	25.1%	25.1%	19.3%	20.2%	10.4%	100%
Chronological Age Range	30-68	21-49	26-71	25-68	44-70	

Table 13: ANOVA Results Indicating Differences Between Clusters on Workplace Motives

Note. Games-Howell post hoc tests were utilized for chronological age, organizational age, health and number of dependents. Superscripts indicate means in a given row are statistically different from the cluster identified by the subscript at the p < .005 level.



	Late Age Longer FTP (1)	Classic Young Age (2)	Classic Middle Age (3)	Late Age Shorter FTP (4)	Classic Late Age (5)
Growth Motives	Higher than Cluster 4				
Social Motives		Higher than Clusters 1 and 4			
Security Motives					

Table 14: Summary of ANOVA Results Indicating Differences Between Clusters on Workplace Motives



Cluster	1	2	3	4	5	
	Late Age Longer FTP	Classic Young Age	Classic Middle Age	Late Age Shorter FTP	Classic Late Age	ANOVA Statistics
Age Concept	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	F
Subjective Age Discrepancy	-10.80 (6.43) ^{2,3,4}	0.21 (3.85) ^{1,3,4,5}	-3.79 (7.80) ^{1,2}	-3.67 (7.79) ^{1,2}	-9.59 (8.45) ²	$F_{(4, 342)} = 34.48$ $\eta^2 = .287$
Focus on Opportunities	5.31 (1.26) ^{4,5}	5.45 (1.22) ^{4,5}	5.20 (1.19) ^{4,5}	3.03 (1.36) ^{1,2,3}	3.90 (1.45) ^{1,2,3}	$F_{(4, 342)} = 48.29$ $\eta^2 = .361$
Focus on Limitations	4.47 (1.52) ⁴	4.22 (1.61) ⁴	4.31 (1.57) ⁴	2.80 (1.18) ^{1,2,3}	3.58 (1.48)	$F_{(4, 342)} = 15.44$ $\eta^2 = .153$
N	87	87	67	70	36	347
% of Total N	25.1%	25.1%	19.3%	20.2%	10.4%	100%
Chronological Age Range	30-68	21-49	26-71	25-68	44-70	

Table 15: Ad Hoc ANOVA Results

Note. Games-Howell post hoc tests were utilized for chronological age, organizational age, health and number of dependents. Superscripts indicate means in a given row are statistically different from the cluster identified by the subscript at the p < .005 level.



	Late Age Longer FTP (1)	Classic Young Age (2)	Classic Middle Age (3)	Late Age Shorter FTP (4)	Classic Late Age (5)
Subjective Age Discrepancy	More youthful than Clusters 2 and 3	Least youthful of any cluster			
Focus on Opportunities				Shorter FTP than Clusters 1, 2, and 3	Shorter FTP than Clusters 1, 2, and 3
Focus on Limitations				Shorter FTP than Clusters 1, 2, and 3	

Table 16: Summary of Ad-Hoc ANOVA Results





Figure 1: Dendrogram of Age Conceptualization Clusters



APPENDIX A

Chronological Age

1. How old are you in years?



APPENDIX B

Organizational Tenure

1. How many years have you been at your current company?

Job Tenure

- 2. How many years have you been at your current job?
- 3. How old are the majority of individuals at your organization (age norms in company)
- 4. What is the average age of individuals at your organization?
- 5. What is the average of individuals at your specific location of work?

Industry Tenure

1. How many years have you been in your current industry?



APPENDIX C

Career Stage

Exploration Stage

- 1. Finding the line of work that I am best suited for.
- 2. Finding a line of work that interests me.
- 3. Getting started in my chosen career field.

Establishment Stage

- 4. Settling down in a job I can stay with.
- 5. Becoming especially knowledgeable or skillful at work.
- 6. Planning how to get ahead in my established field of work.

Maintenance Stage

- 7. Keeping the respect of people in my field.
- 8. Attending meetings and seminars on new methods.
- 9. Identifying new problems to work on.

Disengagement Stage

- 10. Developing easier ways of doing my work.
- 11. Planning well for retirement.
- 12. Having a good place to live in retirement.

Directions: Please rate your current level of concern regarding each task using the following scale:

1 No Concern to 7 Great Concern



APPENDIX D

Functional Age (Subjective General Health)

1. How would you rate your general health?

1 Poor

- 2 Average
- 3 Good
- 4 Very Good
- 5 Excellent



APPENDIX E

Life-Span Conceptualization of Age

1. Do you currently have any children living with you?

____Yes ____No ___Decline to Answer

1a. If Answer=Yes to previous, how many children are living with you?

1b. Only considering the children living with you, how many do you have at each age living with you?

____0-3 ____4-6 ____7-12 ____13-20 ____21-25 ___26 or older

2. Are you responsible for caring for any of the following:

Parent
Spouse
Partner
In-law
Friend
Another adult relative

3. What is your marital status?

1 Single

2 Married, Living Separately

- 3 Married, Living Together
- 4 Widowed
- 5 Living with an Unmarried Partner



APPENDIX F

Subjective Age

1. "Compared to most people my age, most of the time I feel....."

2. "Compared to most people my age, most of the time I act....."

3. "My looks are most like people who are....."

4. "My interests and activities are most like people who are....."

a lot younger than my age
 the age I am
 a lot older than my age

If individuals choose any response except "4", they were prompted to self-report the age they feel, act, look, or have interests. This also acted as a check of the data.

Desired age

5. What age would you like to be if you could choose an age right now?

Directions:

```
    A Lot Younger than my Age
    A Lot Younger than my Age
    The Age I Am
    A Lot Older than my Age
```

6. How old do you feel in years?

7. How old do you act in years?

8. How old do you look in years?

9. What age reflects your interests in years?

10. What age would you like to be if you could choose an age right now?



APPENDIX G

Future Time Perspective

- 1. Many opportunities await me in the future.
- 2. I expect that I will set many new goals in the future.
- 3. My future is filled with possibilities.
- 4. Most of my life lies ahead of me.
- 5. My future seems infinite to me.
- 6. I could do anything I want in the future.
- 7. There is plenty of time left in my life to make new plans.
- 8. I have a sense that time is running out (R)
- 9. There are only limited possibilities in my future. (R)
- 10. As I get older, I begin to experience time as limited. (R)

Directions: Please indicate your agreement with the items using the following scale:



APPENDIX H

Development/Challenge Motives

1. How important is the opportunity for personal development for you?

2. How important is having challenging work for you?

3. How important is the opportunity to learn something new for you?

4. How important is being able to fully use your skills and abilities for you?

Directions: Use the following response range to answer the following questions:

1 Totally Not Important

2 Not Important

3 Slightly Not Important

4 Neither Important nor Not Important

5 Slightly Important

6 Somewhat Important

7 Very Important



APPENDIX I

Growth Need Strength

- 1. How important is stimulating and challenging work?
- 2. How important is the feeling of worthwhile accomplishment I get from doing my job?
- 3. How important are opportunities to learn new things form my work?
- 4. How important are opportunities to be creative and imaginative in my work?
- 5. How important are opportunities for personal growth and development in my job?
- 6. How important is a sense of worthwhile accomplishment in my work?

Directions: Use the following response range to answer the following questions:

- Totally Not Important
 Not Important
 Slightly Not Important
 Neither Important nor Not Important
 Slightly Important
 Somewhat Important
 Very Important
- 7 Very Important



APPENDIX J

Advancement/Promotion Needs

- 1. I take chances at work to maximize my goals for advancement.
- 2. I tend to take risks at work in order to achieve success.
- 3. If I had an opportunity to participate on a high-risk, high-reward project I would definitely take it.
- 4. If my job did not allow for advancement, I would likely find a new one.
- 5. A chance to grow is an important factor for me when looking for a job.
- 6. I focus on accomplishing job tasks that will further my advancement.
- 7. I spend a great deal of time envisioning how to fulfill my aspirations.
- 8. My work priorities are impacted by a clear picture of what I aspire to be.
- 9. At work, I am motivated by my hopes and aspirations.

Directions:

Please indicate your agreement with each item using the following response range:

- 1 Strongly Disagree
- 2 Disagree
- 3 Slightly Disagree
- 4 Neither Agree nor Disagree
- 5 Slightly Agree
- 6 Agree
- 7 Strongly Agree


APPENDIX K

Need for Affiliation

- 1. When I have a choice, I try to work in a group instead of by myself.
- 2. I pay a good deal of attention to the feelings of others at work.
- 3. I prefer to do my own work and let others do theirs (R).
- 4. I express my disagreements with others openly (R).
- 5. I find myself talking to those around me about non-business related matters.

Directions: Use the following response range to answer the following questions:

Never
 Almost Never
 Seldom
 Sometimes
 Usually
 Almost Always
 Always



APPENDIX L

Helping Behavior

- 1. I focus my attention on getting along with others at work.
- 2. I spend a lot of time contemplating whether my coworkers like me.
- 3. I never give up trying to be liked by my coworkers and supervisors.*
- 4. I expend a lot of effort developing a reputation as someone who is easy to get along with.
- 5. I get excited about the prospect of having coworkers who are good friends.
- 6. I enjoy thinking about cooperating with my coworkers and supervisors.
- 7. I care a lot about having coworkers and supervisors who are like me.
- 8. I am challenged by a desire to be a team player.
- 9. I get worked up thinking about ways to make sure others like me.

Directions:

Please indicate your agreement with each item using the following response range:

- 1 Strongly Disagree
- 2 Disagree
- 3 Slightly Disagree
- 4 Neither Agree nor Disagree
- 5 Slightly Agree
- 6 Agree
- 7 Strongly Agree



APPENDIX M

Need for Recognition

- 1. I welcome assignments that provide a lot of recognition.
- 2. I display symbols of my success so people will notice them.

Directions: Please answer the above questions using the following response range.

Strongly Disagree
 2
 3
 4 Neither Agree nor Disagree
 5
 6
 7 Strongly Agree



APPENDIX N

Prestige/Status

- 1. I frequently think about ways to advance and obtain better pay or working conditions.
- 2. I focus my attention on being the best sales representative in the office.
- 3. I set personal goals for obtaining more sales than anyone else.
- 4. I spend a lot of time contemplating ways to get ahead of my coworkers.
- 5. I often compare my work accomplishments against coworkers' accomplishments.
- 6. I never give up trying to perform at a level higher than others.
- 7. I always try to be the highest performer.
- 8. I get excited about the prospect of being the most successful sales representative.
- 9. I feel a thrill when I think about getting a higher status position at work.
- 10. I am challenged by a desire to perform my job better than my coworkers.
- 11. I get worked up thinking about ways to become the highest performing sales representative.

Directions:

Please indicate your agreement with each item using the following response range:

- 1 Strongly Disagree
- 2 Disagree
- 3 Slightly Disagree
- 4 Neither Agree nor Disagree
- 5 Slightly Agree
- 6 Agree
- 7 Strongly Agree



APPENDIX O

Need for Autonomy

- 11. In my work assignments, I try to be my own boss.
- 12. I go my own way at work, regardless of the opinion of others.
- 13. I disregard rules and regulations that hamper my personal freedom.
- 14. I consider myself a "team player" at work. (R).
- 15. I try my best to work alone on a job.

Directions: Use the following response range to answer the following questions:

Never
 Almost Never
 Seldom
 Sometimes
 Usually
 Almost Always
 Always



APPENDIX P

Need for Achievement

- 1. I do my best work when my job assignments are fairly difficult.
- 2. I try very hard to improve on my past performance at work.
- 3. I take moderate risks and stick my neck out to get ahead at work.
- 4. I try to avoid any added responsibilities on my job. (R)
- 5. I try to perform better than my coworkers.

Directions: Use the following response range to answer the following questions:

Never
 Almost Never
 Seldom
 Sometimes
 Usually
 Almost Always
 Always



APPENDIX Q

Use of Skills (Self-Actualization)

- 1. How *important* is the feeling of self-fulfillment a person gets from being in your position (that is, the feeling of being able to use one's own unique capabilities, realizing one's potentialities)?
- 2. How *important* is the feeling of worthwhile accomplishment in your position?

Directions: Use the following response range to answer the following questions:

- 1 Totally Not Important
- 2 Not Important
- 3 Slightly Not Important
- 4 Neither Important nor Not Important
- 5 Slightly Important
- 6 Somewhat Important
- 7 Very Important



APPENDIX R

Compensation/Benefits Motives

1. How important is the pay for your position?

Directions: Use the following response range to answer the following questions:

- 1 Totally Not Important
- 2 Not Important
- 3 Slightly Not Important
- 4 Neither Important nor Not Important
- **5** Slightly Important
- 6 Somewhat Important
- 7 Very Important



APPENDIX S

Need for Security

- 1. I concentrate on completing my work tasks correctly to increase my job security.
- 2. At work I focus my attention on completing my assigned responsibilities.
- 3. Fulfilling my work duties is very important to me.
- 4. At work, I strive to live up to the responsibilities and duties given to me by others.
- 5. At work, I am often focused on accomplishing tasks that will support my need for security.
- 6. I do everything I can do avoid loss at work.
- 7. Job security is an important factor for me in any job search.
- 8. I focus my attention on avoiding failure at work.
- 9. I am very careful to avoid exposing myself to potential losses at work.

Directions:

Please indicate your agreement with each item using the following response range:

- 1 Strongly Disagree
- 2 Disagree
- 3 Slightly Disagree
- 4 Neither Agree nor Disagree
- 5 Slightly Agree
- 6 Agree
- 7 Strongly Agree



REFERENCES

- Adams, J. S. (1965). Inequity in social exchange. In L. Berkowitz (Ed.), *Advances in experimental social psychology* (Vol. 2). New York: Academic Press.
- Adler, S., & Aranya, N. (1984). A comparison of the work needs, attitudes, and preference of professional accountants at different career stages. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 25, 45-57.
- Allen, T. D., & Finkelstein, L. M. (2014). Work–family conflict among members of full-time dual-earner couples: An examination of family life stage, gender, and age. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 19, 376-384.
- Allen, N. J., & Meyer, J. P. (1993). Organizational commitment: Evidence of career stage effects. *Journal of Business Research*, *26*, 49-61.
- Alpander, G. C., & Carter, K. D. (1991). Strategic multinational intracompany differences in employee motivation. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *6*, 25-32.
- Anderson, K. H., Burkhauser, R. V. (1985). The retirement-health nexus: A new measure of an old puzzle. *Journal of Human Resources, 20,* 315-330.
- Anstey, K. J., Lord, S. R., & Smith, G. A. (1996). Measuring human functional age: A review of empirical findings. *Experimental Aging Research*, *22*, 245-266.
- Avolio, B. J., & Waldman, D. A. (1990). An examination of age and cognitive test performance across job complexity and occupational types. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *75*, 43-50.
- Baltes, P. B., & Baltes, M. M. (1990). Psychological perspectives on successful aging: The model of selective optimization with compensation. In P. B. Baltes and M. M. Baltes (Eds.), Successful aging: Perspectives from the behavioral sciences (pp. 1-34). New York: Cambridge University Press.



- Baltes, B. B., Briggs, T. E., Huff, J. W., Wright, J. A., & Neuman, G. A. (1999). Flexible and compressed workweek schedules: A meta-analysis of their effects on work-related criteria. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 84, 496-513.
- Baltes, P. B., & Freund, A. M. (2003). The intermarriage of wisdom and selective optimization with compensation: Two meta-heuristics guiding the conduct of life. In C. L. M. Keyes & J. Haidt (Eds.), *Flourishing: Positive psychology and the life well-lived* (pp. 249-273). Washington, D.C: American Psychological Society.
- Baltes, B. B., & Heydens-Gahir, H. A. (2003). Reduction of work-family conflict through the use of selection, optimization, and compensation behaviors. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88, 1005-1018.
- Baltes, B. B. & Young, L. M. (2007). Aging and work/family issues. In G. Adams & K.Shultz (Eds.), Aging and Work in the 21stCentury. (pp. 251-275). LawrenceErlbaum Associates Applied Psychology series.
- Bandura, A. (1986). Self-efficacy. In Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory. (pp. 390-453). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Barak, B. (1987). Cognitive age: A new multidimensional approach to measuring age identity. *International Journal of Aging and Human Development, 25,* 109-128.
- Barrett, A. E. (2003). Socioeconomic status and age identity: The role of dimensions of health in the subjective construction of age. *Journal of Gerontology*, *58B*, 101-109.
- Barrick, M. R., Stewart, G. L., & Piotrowski, M. (2002). Personality and job performance: Test of the mediating effects of motivation among sales representatives. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87, 43-51.

Bergman, L. R., & Magnusson, D. (1997). A person-oriented approach in research on



developmental psychopathology. Development and Psychopathology, 9, 291-319.

- Blau, Z. S. (1956). Changes in status and age identification. American Sociological Review, 21, 198-203.
- Borzumato-Gainey, C., Kennedy, A., McCabe, B., Degges-White, S. (2009). Life satisfaction, self-esteem, and subjective age in women across the life span. *Adultspan*, *8*, 29-42.
- Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor, The Editor's Desk, Share of labor force projected to rise for people age 55 and over and fall for younger age groups on the Internet at http://www.bls.gov/opub/ted/2014/ted_20140124.htm (visited March 23, 2014).
- Burke, R. J., & Mikkelsen, A. (2005). Career stage and police cynicism. *Psychological Reports,* 96, 989-992.
- Carstensen, L. L. (1995). Evidence for a life span theory of socioemotional selectivity. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *4*, 151–156.
- Carstensen, L.L. (1992). Social and emotional patterns in adulthood: Support for socioemotional selectivity theory. *Psychology & Aging*, *7*, 331-338.
- Carstensen, L. L., Isaacowitz, & Charles, S. T. (1999). Taking time seriously. A theory of socioemotional selectivity. *American Psychologist*, 54, 165–181.
- Carstensen, L. L., & Lang, F. R. (1996). *Future Time Perspective Scale*. Unpublished manuscript, Stanford University.
- Cate, R. A., & John, O. P. (2007). Testing models of the structure and development of future time perspective: Maintaining a focus on opportunities in middle age. *Psychology & Aging*, 22, 186-201.

Cennamo, L., & Gardner, D. (2008). Generational differences in work values, outcomes and



person- organisation values fit. Journal of Managerial Psychology, 23, 891-906.

- Cleveland, J. N., & Shore, L. M. (1992). Self and supervisory perspectives on age and work attitudes and performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 77, 469-484.
- Cohen, A. (1991). Career stage as a moderator of the relationships between organizational commitment and its outcomes: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, 64, 253-268.
- Cohen, A. (1993). Age and tenure in relation to organizational commitment: A meta-analysis. Basic and Applied Social Psychology, 14, 143-159.
- Conway, E. (2004). Relating career stage to attitudes towards HR practices and commitment: Evidence of interaction effects? *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology, 13,* 417-446.
- Cook, J., & Wall, T. (1980). New work attitude measures of trust, organizational commitment and personal need non-fulfilment. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, *53*, 39-52.
- Cooke, D. K. (1994). Measuring career stage. *Human Resource Management Review*, *4*, 383-398.
- Crumpacker, M., & Crumpacker, J. M. (2007). Succession planning and generational stereotypes: Should HR consider age-based values and attitudes a relevant factor or a passing fad? *Public Personnel Management, 36,* 349-369.
- DeCelles, K. A., DeRue, D. S., Margolis, J. D., & Seranic, T. L. (2012). Does power corrupt or enable? When and why power facilitates self-interested behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97, 681-689.
- Degges-White, S., & Myers, J. E. (2006). Women at midlife: An exploration of chronological age, subjective age, wellness, and life satisfaction. *Adultspan, 5,* 67-80.



- Dik, B. J., Sargent, A. M., & Steger, M. F. (2008). Career development strivings: Assessing goals and motivation in career decision-making and planning. *Journal of Career Development*, 35, 23-41.
- Dillon, R. L., Tinsley, C. H., Madsen, P. M., & Rogers, E. W. (2013). Organizational correctives for improving recognition of near-miss events. *Journal of Management*.
- Dolnicar, S. (2002). A review of unquestioned standards in using cluster analysis for data-driven market segmentation. Faculty of Commerce Papers. University of Wollongong, Australia.
- Dreher, G. F. (1980). Individual needs as correlates of satisfaction and involvement with a modified Scanlon Plan company. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *17*, 89-94.
- Dreher, G. F., & Mai-Dalton, R. R. (1983). A note on the internal consistency of the Manifest Needs Questionnaire. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 68, 194-196.
- Duvall, E. M., & Hill, R. (1948). *Report of the committee on the dynamics of family interests*. Paper presented at the National Conference on Family Life.
- Ebner, N. C., Freund, A. M., & Baltes, P. B. (2006). Developmental changes in personal goal orientation from young to late adulthood: From striving for gains to maintenance and prevention of losses. *Psychology & Aging, 21,* 664-678.
- Formann, A. K. (1984). Die Latent-Class-Analyse. Weinheim: Beltz.
- Galambos, N. L., Turner, P. K., Tilton-Weaver, L. C. (2005). Chronological and subjective age in emerging adulthood: The crossover effect. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 20, 538-556.
- Goldsmith, R. A., & Heiens, R. A. (1992). Subjective age: A test of five hypotheses. *The Gerontologist*, *32*, 312-317.



- Gould, S. (1979). Characteristics of career planners in upwardly mobile occupations. *Academy of Management Journal*, 22, 539-550.
- Gregersen, H. B. (1993). Multiple commitments at work and extrarole behavior during three stages of organizational tenure. *Journal of Business Research*, *26*, 31-47.
- Groeneman, S. (2008). *Staying Ahead of the Curve 2007: The AARP Work and Career Study,* AARP, Washington, D. C.
- Gu, J., McFerran, B., Aquino, K., & Kim, T. G. (2014). What makes affirmative action-based hiring decisions seem (un)fair? A test of an ideological explanation for fairness judgments. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 35, 722-745.
- Hackman, J. R., & Oldham, G. R. (1980). Work redesign. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Hafer, J. C. (1986). An empirical investigation of the saleperson's career stage perspective. Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management, 6, 1-7.

Hall, D. T. (1976). Careers in organizations. Glenview, IL: Scott, Foresman.

- Hall, D. T., & Mansfield, R. (1975). Relationships of age and seniority with career variables of engineers and scientists. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 60, 201-210.
- Halpin, G., Ralph, J., & Halpin, G. (1990). The Adult Career Concerns Inventory: Validity and reliability. *Measuring and Evaluation in Counseling and Development*, 22, 196-202.
- Hayward, M. D., Grady, W. R., Hardy, M. A., & Sommers, D. (1989). Occupational influences on retirement, disability, and death. *Demography*, *26*, 393-409.
- Heckhausen, J. (1997). Developmental regulation across adulthood: Primary and secondary control of age-related challenges. *Developmental Psychology*, *33*, 176-187.
- Henderson, K. V., Goldsmith, R. E., Flynn, L. R. (1995). Demographic characteristics of subjective age. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 135, 447-457.



- Hendricks, J., & Cutler, S. J. (2004). Volunteerism and socioemotional selectivity in later life. Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences & Social Sciences, 59B, 251-257.
- Herzberg, F. (1966). Work and the nature of man. Cleveland, OH: World.
- Hess, N., & Jepsen, D. M. (2009). Career stage and generational differences in psychological contracts. *Career Development International*, 14, 261-283.
- Higgins, C., Duxbury, L., & Lee, C. (1994). Impact of life-cycle stage and gender on the ability to balance work and family responsibilities. *Family Relations*, *43*, 144-150.
- Holahan, C. K. (1988). Relation of life goals at age 70 to activity participation and health and psychological well-being among Terman's gifted men and women. *Psychology & Aging*, *3*, 286-291.
- Holtz, B. C. (in press). From first impression to fairness perception: Investigating the impact of initial trustworthiness beliefs. *Personnel Psychology*.
- Hubley, A. M., Russell, L. B. (2009). Prediction of subjective age, desired age, and age satisfaction in older adults: Do some health dimensions contribute more than others?
 International Journal of Behavioral Development, 33, 12-21.
- Infurna, F. J., Gerstorf, D., Robertson, S., Berg, S., & Zarit, S. H. (2010). The nature and crossdomain correlates of subjective age in the oldest old: Evidence from the OCTO Study. *Psychology & Aging*, 25, 470-476.
- Jans, N. A. (1989). Organizational commitment, career factors, and career/life stage. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *10*, 247-266.
- Joiner, C. (1982). A note on reliability coefficients for the Manifest Needs Questionnaire. Journal of Occupational Psychology, 55, 149-150.



- Kaliterna, Larsen, Z. P., & Brkljacic, T. (2002). Chronological and subjective age in relation to work demands: Survey of Croatian workers. *Experimental Aging Research*, *28*, 39-49.
- Koh, S., Lee, S., Yen, D. C., & Havelka, D. (2004). The relationship between information technology professionals' skill requirements and career stage in the E-Commerce era: An empirical study. *Journal of Global Information Management*, 12, 68-82.
- Kooij, D., de Lange, A., Jansen, P., & Dikkers, J. (2008). Older workers' motivation to continue to work: Five meanings of age. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 23, 364-394.
- Kooij, D. T. A. M., de Lange, A. H., Jansen, P. G. W., Kanfer, R., & Dikkers, J. S. E. (2011).
 Age and work-related motives: Results of a meta-analysis. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *32*, 197-225.
- Kooij, D., & Van de Voorde, K. (2011). How changes in subjective general health predict future time perspective, and development and generativity motives over the lifespan. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 84, 228-247.
- Kossek, E. E., Ruderman, M. N., Braddy, P. W., & Hannum, K. M. (2012). Work-nonwork boundary management profiles: A person-centered approach. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 81, 112-128.
- Kristensen, T. S., Hannerz, H., Hogh, A., & Borg, V. (2005). The Copenhagen Psychosocial Questionnaire – a tool for the assessment and improvement of the psychosocial work environment. *Scandinavian Journal of Work and Environmental Health*, *6*, 438-449.

Kuvaas, B. (2006). Work performance, affective commitment, and work motivation: the roles of pay administration and pay level. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *27*, 365-385.

Laerd Statistics. (2015, March 26). One-way MANOVA in SPSS. Retrieved from

https://statistics.laerd.com/spss-tutorials/one-way-manova-using-spss-statistics.php.



- Lang, F. R., & Carstensen, L. L. (2002). Time counts: Future time perspective, goals, and social relationships. *Psychology & Aging*, *17*, 125-139. *Psychology & Aging*, *13*, 544-552.
- Lansford, J. E., Sherman, A. M., & Antonucci, T. C. (1998). Satisfaction with social networks: An examination of socioemotional selectivity theory across cohorts.
- Lens, W., Paixao, M. P., Herrera, D., & Grobler, A. (2012). Future time perspective as a motivational variable: Content and extension of future goals affect the quantity and quality of motivation. *Japanese Psychological Research*, 54, 321-333.

Levinson, D. J. (1978). The season's of a man's life. New York: Ballantine.

- Levinson, D. J. (1986). A conception of adult development. American Psychologist, 41, 3-13.
- Livingston, G., & Cohn, D. (2010). Pew Research Center Social & Demographic Trends. *Childlessness up among all women; Down among women with advanced degrees.* Retrieved from http://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2010/06/25/childlessness-up-among-allwomen-down-among-women-with-advanced-degrees/
- Locke, E. A. (1991). The motivation sequence, the motivation hub, and the motivation core. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, *50*, 288-299.
- Locke, E. A., & Latham, G. P. (1990). *A theory of goal setting and task performance*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Lockenhoff, C. E., & Carstensen, L. L. (2004). Socioemotional selectivity theory, aging, and health: The increasingly delicate balance between regulating emotions and making tough choices. *Journal of Personality*, 72, 1395-1424.
- Long, C. P., Bendersky, C., & Morrill, C. (2011). Fairness monitoring: Linking managerial controls and fairness judgments in organizations. *Academy of Management Journal*, 54, 1045-1068.



- Lord, S. R., Clark, R. D., & Webster, I. W. (1991). Physiological factors associated with falls in an elderly population. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *39*, 1194-1200.
- Lund, T., & Borg, V. (1999). Work environment and self-rated health as predictors of remaining in work 5 years later among Danish employees 35-59 years of age. *Experimental Aging Research*, 25, 429-434.
- Luttman, S., Mittermaier, L., & Rebele, J. (2003). The association of career stage and gender with tax accountants' work attitudes and behaviors. In Thomas M. Porcano (Ed.), *Advances in Taxation*. Emerald Group Publishing Limited, pp.111-143.
- Lynn, S. A., Cao, L. T., & Horn, B. C. (1996). The influence of career stage on the work attitudes of male and female accounting professionals. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 17, 135-149.
- Maslow, A. H. (1943). A theory of human motivation. Psychological Review, 50, 370-396.
- McCelroy, J. C., Rodriguez, J. M., Griffin, G. C., Morrow, P. C., & Wilson, M. G. (1993). Career stage, time spent on the road, and truckload driver attitudes. *Transportation Journal*, 33, 5-14.
- McClelland, D. C. (1961). The achieving society. New York: Free Press.
- Mehta, R., Anderson, R. E., & Dubinsky, A. J. (2000). The perceived importance of sales managers' rewards: a career stage perspective. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 15, 507-524.
- Meyer, J. P., & Gagne, M. (2008). Employee engagement from a self-determination theory perspective. *Industrial & Organizational Psychology*, *1*, 60-62.
- Mock, S. E., & Eibach, R. P. (2011). Aging attitudes moderate the effect of subjective age on psychological well-being: Evidence from a 10-year longitudinal study. *Psychology* &



Aging, 26, 979-986.

- Montepare, J. M. (1991). Characteristics and psychological correlates of young adult men's and women's subjective age. *Sex Roles*, *24*, 323-333.
- Montepare, J. M., Rierdan, J., Koff, E., & Stubbs, M. (1989). The impact of biological events on females' subjective age identities. Paper presented at the Eighth Meeting of the Society for Menstrual Cycle Research, Salt Lake City, UT.
- Moran, C. M., Diefendorff, J. M., Kim, T., & Liu, Z. (2012). A profile approach to selfdetermination theory motivations at work. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *81*, 354-363.
- Morrow, P. C., & McElroy, J. C. (1987). Work commitment and job satisfaction over three career stages. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *30*, 330-346.
- Mount, M. K. (1984). Managerial career stage and facets of job satisfaction. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *24*, 340-354.
- Naidu, N. S., & Patrick, P. A. (2011). The influence of career stage, practice type and location, and physician's sex on surgical practices among board-certified plastic surgeons performing breast augmentation. *Aesthetic Surgery Journal*, 31, 941-952.
- Neubert, M. J., Kacmar, K. M., Carlson, D. S., Chonko, L. B., & Roberts, J. A. (2008). Regulatory focus as a mediator of the influence of initiating structure and servant leadership on employee behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *93*, 1220-1233.
- Ng., T. W. H., & Feldman, D. C. (2012). Evaluating six common stereotypes about older workers with meta-analytical data. *Personnel Psychology*, *65*, 821-858.
- Norusis, M. J. (2012). *IBM SPSS statistics 19 statistical procedure companion*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Nunnaly, J. C. (1978). *Psychometric theory* (2nd ed.), New York: Mcgraw-Hill.



- Ornstein, S., Cron, W. L., & Slocum, J. W. (1989). Life stage versus career stage: A comparative test of the theories of Levinson and Super. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 10, 117-133.
- Ornstein, S., & Isabella, L. (1990). Age vs. stage models of career attitudes of women: A partial replication and extension. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *36*, 1-19.
- Padawer, E. A., Jacobs-Lawson, J. M., Hershey, D. A., & Thomas, D. G. (2007). Demographic indicators as predictors of future time perspective. *Current Psychology*, 26, 102-108.
- Peetsma, T., Hascher, T., van der Veen, I., & Roede, E. (2005). Relations between adolescents' self-evaluations, time perspectives, motivation for school and their achievement in different countries and at different ages. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*. *Special Issue: Societal Values and School Motivation: Students' Goals in Different Life Domains, 20, 209-225.*
- Penningroth, S. L., & Scott, W. D. (2012). Age-related differences in goals: Testing prediction from selection, optimization, and compensation theory and socioemotional selectivity theory. *International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, 74, 87-111.
- Perrone, K. M., Gordon, P. A., Fitch, J. C., & Civiletto, C. L. (2003). The Adult Career Concerns Inventory: Development of a short form. *Journal of Employment Counseling*, 40, 172-180.
- Pinquart, M., & Silbereisen, R. K. (2006). Socioemotional selectivity in cancer patients. *Psychology & Aging*, 21, 419-423.
- Pitt-Catsouphes, M., Matz-Costa, C., & Besen, E. (2009). Workplace flexibility: Findings from the age and generations study. Issue Brief No. 19. Chestnut Hill, MA: Sloan Center on Aging & Work at Boston College. Retrieved from



http://aginandwork.bc.edu/documents/IB19_WorkFlex_2009-02-04.pdf.

- Pogson, C. E., Cober, A. B., Doverspike, D., & Rogers, J. R. (2003). Differences in self-reported work ethic across three career stages. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 62, 189-201.
- Porter, L. W. (1961). A study of perceived need satisfactions in bottom and middle management jobs. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 45, 1-10.
- Retchin, S. M., Cox, J., Fox, M., & Irwin, L. (1988). Performance-based measurements among elderly drivers and nondrivers. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *36*, 813-819.
- Rioux, L., & Mokounkolo, R. (2013). Investigation of subjective age in the work context: Study of a sample of French workers. *Personnel Review*, *42*, 372-395.
- Rubin, D. C., & Bernsten, D. (2006). People over forty feel 20% younger than their age:Subjective age across the lifespan. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, *13*, 776-780.
- Rudolph, C. W., Baltes, B. B., & Zabel, K. L. (2013). Older employees motivation for working. In C. L. Cooper, R. J. Burke, & J. Field (Eds.), Handbook on Aging, Work, and Society. Sage Publications.
- Rush, J. C., Peacock, A. C., & Milkovich, G. T. (1980). Career stages: A partial test of Levinson's model of life/career stages. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 16, 347-359.
- Schmitt, A., Zacher, H, & Frese, M. (2012). The buffering effect of selection, optimization, and compensation strategy use on the relationship between problem solving demands and occupational well-being: A daily diary study. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 17, 139-149.
- Shockley, K. M., & Allen, T. D. (2012). Motives for flexible work arrangement use. *Community, Work, & Family, 15,* 217-231.

Smart, R., & Peterson, C. (1997). Super's career stage and the decision to change careers.



Journal of Vocational Behavior, 51, 358-374.

- Steers, R. M., & Braunstein, D. N. (1976). A behaviorally-based measure of manifest needs in work settings. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 9, 251-266.
- Steitz, J. A., & McClary, A. M. (1988). Subjective age, age identity, and middle-age adults. *Experimental Aging Research*, 14, 83-88.
- Stephan, Y., Caudroit, J., & Chalabaev, A. (2011). Subjective health and memory self-efficacy as mediators in the relation between subjective age and life satisfaction among older adults. *Aging & Mental Health, 15,* 428-436.
- Stephan, Y., Demulier, V., & Terracciano, A. (2012). Personality, self-rated health, and subjective age in a life-span sample: The moderating role of chronological age. *Psychology & Aging*, 27, 875-880.
- Strauss, K., Griffin, M. A., & Parker, S. K. (2012). Future work selves: How salient hoped-for identities motivate proactive career behaviors. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97, 580-598.
- Stumpf, S. A., & Rabinowitz, S. (1981). Career stage as a moderator of performance relationships with facets of job satisfaction and role perceptions. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 18, 202-218.
- Sullivan, S. E. (1999). The changing nature of careers: A review and research agenda. *Journal of Management, 25,* 457-484.
- Super, D. (1957). Psychology of careers. New York: Harper & Brothers.
- Super, D. E., & Hall, D. T. (1978). Career development: Exploration and planning. Annual Review of Psychology, 29, 333-372.

Super, D., Thompson, A., & Lindeman, R. (1988). Adult career concerns inventory: Manual for



research and exploratory use in counseling. Palo Alto, CA. Consulting Psychologists Press.

- Teuscher, U. (2009). Subjective age bias: A motivational and information processing approach. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 33, 22-31.
- Thompson, C. A., & Prottas, D. J. (2006). Relationships among organizational family support, job autonomy, perceived control, and employee well-being. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 11, 100-118.

Tuckman, J., & Lavell, M. (1957). Self-classification as old or not old. Geriatrics, 12, 666-671.

- Vallerand, R. J., O'Connor, B. P., & Hamel, M. (1995). Motivation in later life: Theory and assessment. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, *41*, 221-238.
- Ward, J. H. (1963). Hierarchical grouping to optimize an objective function. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 58, 236-244.
- Weigl, M., Muller, A., Hornung, S., Zacher, H., & Angerer, P. (2013). The moderating effects of job control and selection, optimization, and compensation strategies on the age–work ability relationship. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 34, 607-628.
- Weiner, B. (1986). An attributional theory of motivation. New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Williams, A. P., & Woodward, S. (1980). A note on Steers and Braunstein's behaviorally based measure of manifest needs. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, 53, 219-221.
- Wong, C. H. (2015, March 10). China sets timeline for first change to retirement age since
 1950s. Wall Street Journal. Retrieved from
 http://blogs.wsj.com/chinarealtime/2015/03/10/china-sets-timeline-for-first-change-to retirement-age-since-1950s/.

Yim, O., & Ramdeen, K. (2015). Hierarchical cluster analysis: Comparison of three linkage



measures and application to psychological data. *The Quantitative Methods for Psychology*, *11*, 8-21.

- Zabel, K. L., & Baltes, B. B. (2015). Workplace intervention effectiveness across the lifespan. In L. J. Finkelstein, D. M. Truxillo, F. Fraccaroli, and R. Kanfer (Eds.), *Facing the challenges of a multi-age workforce: A use-inspired approach*. Abingdon: Taylor & Francis.
- Zacher, H. (2013). Older job seekers' job search intensity: The interplay of proactive personality, age, and occupational future time perspective. *Ageing & Society*, *33*, 1139-1166.
- Zacher, H., & de Lange, A. H. (2011). Relations between chronic regulatory focus and future time perspective: Results of a cross-lagged structural equation model. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 50, 1255-1260.
- Zacher, H., & Frese, M. (2009). Remaining time and opportunities at work: Relationships
 between age, work characteristics, and occupational future time perspective. *Psychology* & Aging, 24, 487-493.



ABSTRACT

THE IMPACT OF AGE ON WORKPLACE MOTIVATION: A PERSON-CENTERED PERSPECTIVE

by

KEITH ZABEL

May 2016

Advisor: Boris B. Baltes, Ph.D.

Major: Psychology (Industrial/Organizational)

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

The present study used the person-centered approach to examine how profiles based upon six different age conceptualizations differentially impact workplace motivation. In the first known study to examine all conceptualizations of age simultaneously, results suggested the age conceptualizations of subjective age and health significantly impact growth motives for older workers, but not social or security motives. Results suggest social motives are influenced more by chronological age as opposed to other conceptualizations of age. Implications for practitioners in designing and implementing HR activities (e.g., succession planning) and researchers in utilizing all the conceptualizations of age and studying workplace interventions are discussed.



AUTOBIOGRAPHICAL STATEMENT

Keith Zabel grew up in Three Oaks, MI, and received his B.A. in Psychology from Albion College in 2009 and M.A. from Wayne State University in 2012. Keith has published peer-reviewed journal articles on work ethic, aging in the workplace, and workplace interventions. As an applied practitioner, Keith has worked as an intern in the talent management areas at Dell and General Motors, and currently works in the HR Analytics area for Ford Motor Co. in their Global, Data, Insights, and Analysis organization.

